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CONCORD METROPOLITAN DISTRICT 
8390 E. CRESCENT PKWY., STE. 300 
GREENWOOD VILLAGE, CO 80111 
303-779-5710 (O) 303-779-0348 (F)

www.concordmetropolitandistrict.com

NOTICE OF REGULAR MEETING AND AGENDA 

DATE: Wednesday, November 1, 2023 
TIME: 12:00 p.m. 
LOCATION: (Hybrid) CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 

8390 E. Crescent Pkwy., Ste. 300 
Greenwood Village, CO 80111 

ACCESS: 

You can also attend the meetings in any of the following ways: 

1. Online Microsoft Teams Meeting – via link below:

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-
join/19%3ameeting_ODgxOWUzZDQtMTQ1ZC00YmUzLWEyNmYtZTMyMDZiN
mE1MWQ4%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%224aaa468e-93ba-
4ee3-ab9f-6a247aa3ade0%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22d42bab28-fbd8-4e65-
a395-965cf9ef152f%22%7d 

OR 
Dial In:  1-720-547-5281 Conference ID: 216 996 519#

Board of Directors Office Term Expires 
Jeff Evans President May 2027 

Hank Vanderryst Secretary/Treasurer May 2025 

Mike Evans Assistant Secretary/Treasurer May 2025 

VACANCY Assistant Secretary/Treasurer May 2025 

VACANCY Assistant Secretary/Treasurer May 2027 

I. ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS

A. Call to Order and approval of agenda.

B. Present Disclosures of Potential Conflicts of Interest.

C. Confirm quorum, location of meeting and posting of meeting notices.

D. Public Comment
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E. Minutes of the August 2, 2023 Special Meeting (enclosure). 

F. Consider Adoption of Resolution 2023-11-01, Regarding 2023 Annual 
Administrative Matters (enclosure). 

II. FINANCIAL ITEMS 

A. Review and Accept September 30, 2023 Unaudited Financial Statements (to be 
distributed) and November 2023 Cash Position Report (enclosure). 

B. Ratify Approval of Claims Totaling $34,242.92 and Directors’ Fees (enclosure). 

C. Conduct Public Hearing to consider amendment of the 2023 Budget.  If necessary, 
consider adoption of Resolution 2023-11-02 to Amend the 2023 Budget (enclosure).  

D. Conduct Public Hearing on the proposed 2024 Budget and consider adoption of 
Resolution No. 2023-11-03 to Adopt the 2024 Budget and Appropriate Sums of 
Money and Set Mill Levies (enclosure). 

E. Authorize District Accountant to prepare the DLG-70 Certification of Tax Levies 
form for certification to the Board of County Commissioners and other interested 
parties.   

F. Consider approval of engagement letter with Simmons & Wheeler, P.C. to prepare 
2024 Audit (to be distributed).  

G. Consider appointment of District Accountant to prepare 2025 Budget. 

III. LEGAL MATTERS 

A. Review and Consider Approval of 2024 Resolution of Workers Comp Coverage  
Exclusion (enclosure). 

IV. COVENANT ENFORCEMENT/DESIGN REVIEW 

V. CONSTRUCTION MATTERS 

VI. MANAGER MATTERS 

A. Concord Business Center Design Guidelines, Development Application and 
Development Application Checklist (enclosures). 

B. Discuss and consider approval of 2024 insurance renewal.  Consider adoption of 
documents needed to obtain or maintain insurance coverage through the Colorado 
Special Districts Property and Liability Pool or T. Charles Wilson Risk Management 
and authorize membership in the Special District Association (to be distributed). 

C. Consider Approval of CliftonLarsonAllen LLP Master Service Agreement and related 
Statement(s) of Work (enclosures). 
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VII. DIRECTOR MATTERS 

VIII. OTHER BUSINESS 

     A.  Confirm Quorum for Next Meeting – February 7, 2024 at 12:00 p.m. at        
           CliftonLarsonAllen LLP, 8390 E. Crescent Pkwy., Ste. 300, Greenwood Village, CO 

80111 
 

IX. ADJOURNMENT 

 
The next regular meeting is scheduled for February 7, 2024. 
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RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 
 

 
  MINUTES OF A SPECIAL MEETING OF 

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 
CONCORD METROPOLITAN DISTRICT (THE “DISTRICT”) 

HELD 
AUGUST 2, 2023 

 
A special hybrid meeting of the Board of Directors of the Concord Metropolitan 
District (referred to hereafter as the “Board”) was convened on Wednesday, 
August 2, 2023, at 11:00 a.m. at CliftonLarsonAllen LLP, 8390 E/ Crescent Pkwy., 
Ste/ 300, Greenwood Village, CO 80111 and MS Teams. This meeting was open 
to the public. 
   

ATTENDANCE 
 

 Directors In Attendance Were: 
Jeff Evans, President 
Hank Vanderryst, Secretary/Treasurer 
Mike Evans; Assistant Secretary  
 
Also, In Attendance Were: 
 
Shauna D’Amato & Lindsay Ross; CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 
Jadyn Mullikin (CliftonLarsonAllen LLP Intern) 
Russ Dykstra; Spencer Fane LLP (via MS TEAMS) 

   

ADMINISTRATIVE 
MATTERS  

 Call to Order and Approval of Agenda:  Ms. D’Amato called the meeting to 
order at 11:33 a.m. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
FINANCIAL  
MATTERS 

  
Upon a motion duly made by Director Jeff Evans, seconded by Director Vanderryst 
and, upon vote, unanimously carried, the Board approved the Agenda as presented. 
 
Disclosures of Potential Conflicts of Interest: Written conflict of interest 
disclosure statements were filed with the Secretary of State on behalf of the District 
72 hours prior to this meeting. 
 
Confirm quorum, location of meeting and posting of meeting notices: A 
quorum was confirmed and Ms. D’Amato noted all notices have been posted. 
 
Public Comment:  There were no public comments. 
 
Minutes of May 3, 2023 Regular Meeting: Upon a motion duly made by Director 
Jeff Evans, seconded by Director Vanderryst and, upon vote, unanimously carried, 
the Board approved the May 3, 2023 Regular Meeting Minutes. 
  
Accept June 30, 2023 Unaudited Financial Statements and Cash Position 
Report:  Ms. Ross reviewed the June 30, 2023 Unaudited Financial Statements 
and Cash Position Report with the Board. Following review and discussion, upon 
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a motion duly made by Director Jeff Evans, seconded by Director Vanderryst and, 
upon vote, unanimously carried, the Board accepted the June 30, 2023 Unaudited 
Financial Statement and Cash Position Report. 
 
Ratify Approval of Claims Totaling $9,659.73 and Directors’ Fees: Ms. Ross 
reviewed the claims and Directors’ fees with the Board.  Following review, upon 
a motion duly made by Director Jeff Evans, seconded by Director J. Vanderryst and, 
upon vote, unanimously carried, the Board ratified the claims totaling $9,659.73 and 
Directors’ Fees as presented. 

LEGAL 
MATTERS 
 
MANAGER 
MATTERS 

  None. 
 
 
Landscape Maintenance Updates:  Ms. D’Amato provided an update to the 
Board noting that flowers are currently blooming at Monument Sign.       
 
Revised Guidelines and Application Form:  Following Board discussion, upon a 
motion duly made by Director Mike Evans, seconded by Director Vanderryst and, 
upon vote, unanimously carried, the Board approved the revised guidelines and 
application form, subject to final review by Director Jeff Evans and legal counsel. 

   
DIRECTOR 
ITEMS 

 None. 

   
OTHER BUSINESS  Quorum for Next Meeting – November 1, 2023 Regular Meeting at 12:00 

p.m.: The Board confirmed a quorum for the November 1, 2023 meeting. 
   
ADJOURNMENT  There being no further business to come before the Board at this time, upon a 

motion duly made by Director Jeff Evans, seconded by Director Vanderryst and, 
upon vote, unanimously carried, the meeting was adjourned at 11:57 a.m. 
 

Respectfully submitted, 
 

By ______________________________ 
 Secretary for the Meeting 
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RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF CONCORD METROPOLITAN DISTRICT 

CONCERNING ANNUAL ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS 
2024 

 WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Concord Metropolitan District (the 
“District”) is to perform certain tasks on a recurring basis in the operation of the District; 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Concord Metropolitan District within 
the County of Douglas, State of Colorado, as follows: 

 1. Contact Person.  The Board of Directors of the District (the “Board”) directs the 
District Manager to notify the Board of County Commissioners, the County Assessor, the 
County Treasurer, the County Clerk and Recorder, the governing body of the municipality in 
which the District is located, if applicable, and the Division of Local Government of the name 
of the Chair of the Board, the contact person located within the District, if available, telephone 
number, and business address of the District on or before January 15, as required by Section 
32-1-104(2), C.R.S.  The Board hereby names the District Manager as the contact person within 
the District.  The contact person is authorized, under Section 24-10-109(3)(b), C.R.S., to accept 
notices of claims against the District as the District’s agent and, if any such claim is received, 
must promptly notify the President of the Board and the attorney for the District of such receipt. 

2. Map.  The Board directs the District Manager to prepare an accurate map as 
specified by the Division of Local Government for filing with the Division, the County 
Assessor, and the County Clerk and Recorder on or before January 1, as required by Section 
32-1-306, C.R.S.  If there have been no changes to the boundaries of the District since the filing 
of an accurate map, the District Manager may notify the above-mentioned entities in a letter 
that no changes have been made to the map. 

 3. Budget.  The Board directs the District Accountant and the District Manager to 
submit a proposed budget to the Board by October 15; to schedule a public hearing on the 
proposed budget; to prepare a final budget, budget resolution and budget message, the 
certification of mill levies, and any budget amendment(s) needed; to certify the mill levies on 
or before December 15; and to file the approved budget and amendment(s) with the proper 
governmental entities in accordance with the Local Government Budget Law of Colorado, 
Sections 29-1-101 to 29-1-115, C.R.S.  If no mill levy is to be certified, such actions may be 
completed by December 31. 

 4. Intergovernmental Agreements.  If the District receives a written request from 
the Division of Local Government, the Board directs the District Manager to prepare and file 
within thirty days of such request, an informational listing of all contracts in effect with other 
political subdivisions, in compliance with Section 29-1-205, C.R.S.  

5. Notice to Electors (Transparency Notice).  The Board directs that no more than 
sixty days prior to and not later than January 15, the District Manager will prepare and distribute 
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the Notice to Electors pursuant to and in a matter prescribed by Section 32-1-809, C.R.S.  The 
Board further directs that in compliance with Section 32-1-104(2), C.R.S., the Notice will be 
filed with the Board of County Commissioners, the County Assessor, the County Treasurer, the 
County Clerk and Recorder, the governing body of the municipality in which the District is 
located, if applicable, and the Division of Local Government and a copy made available for 
public inspection at the District’s business office. 

 6. Annual Securities Report.  If required, the Board directs the District Manager to 
prepare and file the annual public securities report for nonrated public securities issued by the 
District (if any), with the Department of Local Affairs on or before March 1, in accordance with 
Sections 11-58-101 to 11-58-107, C.R.S. 

 7. Audit/Audit Exemption.  The Board directs that an audit of the financial 
statements be prepared and submitted to the Board before June 30 and further directs that the 
Audit be filed with the State Auditor by July 31, as required by Section 29-1-606, C.R.S.  In 
the event that the timetable will not be met, the District auditor and the Accountant are directed 
to request extensions of time to file the audit as needed.  If neither the revenues nor the 
expenditures for the past year exceed $100,000, then the Board directs that a short form 
application for exemption from audit shall be prepared.  If either revenues or expenditures are 
greater than $100,000 but are less than or equal to $750,000, then the Board directs that a long 
form application for exemption from audit shall be prepared.  The short form or long form 
application shall be submitted to the Board and then filed with the State Auditor by March 31, 
as required by Section 29-1-604, C.R.S. 

 8. Unclaimed Property.  The Board directs the District Manager to prepare the 
Unclaimed Property Act report and forward it to the State Treasurer by November 1 if there is 
District property presumed abandoned and subject to custody as unclaimed property, in 
accordance with Section 38-13-110, C.R.S. 

 9. Public Records.  The Board designates the Board Secretary as the official 
custodian of public records as such term is used in Section 24-72-202, C.R.S., with the functions 
thereof hereby delegated to the District Manager as the custodian as defined in 24-72-202(1.1), 
C.R.S. The custodian is authorized to develop such procedures as may be reasonably required 
for the protection and retention of such records.  On behalf of the District, the custodian may 
charge the maximum fees allowed by law for copies, research and retrieval, development of 
privilege log, and such other services as are authorized by law.  Any cost associated with any 
research and retrieval of public records is outlined in the Resolution Adopting Policies and Fee 
Schedule for the Handling of Record Requests Under the Colorado Open Records Act. 

10. CORA Policy.  Pursuant to Colorado Open Records Act, Section 24-72-205, 
C.R.S. (“CORA”), the Board has adopted a policy concerning research and retrieval fees for 
public records. The Board directs the District Manager to update the District’s Notice to 
Electors (Transparency Notice) with the District’s CORA policy information as required by the 
statute. 
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11. Data Privacy Policy.  Pursuant to Sections 24-73-101, et seq., C.R.S., the Board 
has previously adopted a written policy for the destruction of documents containing personal 
identifying information, for implementing reasonable security procedures and practices to 
protect personal identifying information, and for notifying Colorado residents of a security 
breach or possible security breach. 

12. E-mail Policy.  Pursuant to Section 24-72-204.5, C.R.S., the Board hereby 
adopts a written policy that District management may monitor electronic mail communications 
at any time, with or without cause, and further states that correspondence of any employee in 
the form of electronic mail may be a public record under the public records law and may be 
subject to public inspection under Section 24-72-203, C.R.S. 

The Board further directs that when and if the District has employees, the following 
electronic mail policy will be in effect: 

A. All employees of the District may have access to the District’s electronic mail 
communications system, which access may include utilization of a District-assigned 
email address for use in both internal and external email communications. 

B. Employees cannot expect a right of privacy in their use of the District’s 
electronic communications system. 

C. Employees understand, acknowledge and agree that all communications in the 
form of electronic mail may be considered a public record pursuant to CORA and may 
be subject to public inspection pursuant to C.R.S. Section 24-72-203 of CORA. 

D. The District reserves the right to monitor an employee’s electronic mail 
communication(s) including, but not limited to, circumstances where the District, in its 
sole discretion, reasonably believes that such communication(s) may be considered a 
public record pursuant to C.R.S. § 24-72-203 of CORA. 

 13. Fair Campaign Practices Act – Gifts and Honoraria.  The Board is reminded that 
in accordance with the Fair Campaign Practices Act, each Board member is required to report 
to, and in a manner prescribed by, the Secretary of State certain items received in connection 
with their service, such report to be filed on or before January 15, April 15, July 15, and October 
15 of each year, as required by Sections 1-45-109 and 24-6-203, C.R.S.  No report needs to be 
filed unless a director receives $53 or more in cash or loans, or real or personal property having 
a value of $53 or more.  Further, the Board is reminded that in accordance with Section 24-6-
203, C.R.S., if a Board member receives annual compensation from the District of more than 
$2,400, then the Board member is required to file a quarterly report in the prescribed manner 
with the Secretary of State.   

 14. Newspaper.  The Board designates the Douglas County News-Press as the 
newspaper of general circulation within the boundaries of the District, or in the vicinity of the 
District if none is circulated within the District, and directs that all legal notices shall be 
published in the afore-named newspaper, in accordance with Section 32-1-103(15), C.R.S.  If 
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publication in such newspaper is impossible or impracticable, then any legal newspaper 
published in the county may be used as an alternative. 
 
 15. Director Compensation/FICA.  The Board of Directors of the District determines 
that each director shall receive compensation for services as directors, at the maximum rate 
allowed by law, in accordance with 32-1-902(3)(a)(I) & (II), C.R.S. The Board recognizes that 
the Internal Revenue Service has determined that directors of special districts are considered 
employees of the District and as such, must pay federal employment taxes on the compensation 
they receive for services performed as a director. The Board, therefore, directs the District 
Accountant to withhold federal employment taxes from the amount that the directors receive in 
compensation and to furnish each director with an annual IRS W-2 form. 

 16. Director Qualification.  Pursuant to Section 32-1-901, C.R.S., the District 
determines that each present and future member of the Board shall have in the District files, 
with annual confirmation thereof by the District’s custodian of public records, a complete and 
executed Certificate of Appointment (if the director is appointed), current Oath of Office and 
applicable Surety Bond, and that copies of each be submitted to the Division of Local 
Government and the District Court as necessary and as may be requested. 

17. Officers.  The District has elected, in accordance with Section 32-1-902, C.R.S., 
the following officers for the District: 

 Name      Title 
  Jeffrey Evans     President 
  Henry Vanderryst    Secretary/Treasurer 
  Michael Evans     Assistant Secretary and Treasurer 
  Vacancy 
  Vacancy    
 
Unless the District acts to elect new officers, or an officer resigns his or her office, such officers 
shall serve indefinitely. 

 18. Director Indemnification.  The Board of Directors of the District extends the 
current indemnification resolution to allow the resolution to continue in effect as written. In the 
event an indemnification resolution is not in effect, then the approval of this administrative 
matters resolution shall be deemed to authorize indemnification of the directors of the District 
when acting in good faith within the scope of their duties and in the best interests of the District, 
to the fullest extent allowed by law. 

 19. Designated Posting Location for the Posting of Meeting Notices.  Pursuant to 
Sections 24-6-402(2)(c)(I) and 32-1-903, C.R.S., the Board of Directors of the District has 
adopted a Resolution Concerning Online Notice of Public Meetings, which authorizes the 
Board to post notices of its public meetings, including specific agenda information, on the 
following public website: www.concordmetropolitandistrict.com no less than twenty-four 
hours prior to the holding of the meeting. In the event the District is unable to post a notice 
online in exigent or emergency circumstances, such as a power outage or an interruption in 
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internet service that prevents the public from accessing the notice online, in accordance with 
Section 24-6-402(2)(c)(III), C.R.S., the Board designates the following location within the 
District’s boundaries as the official designated posting place for the posting of meeting agendas 
no less than twenty-four hours prior to the meeting: a utility box at the northeast corner of 
Peoria and Compark Blvd. 

20. Meetings.  Consistent with the provisions of Section 32-1-903, C.R.S., as 
amended, the District may hold meetings of the Board at a physical location or by telephonic, 
electronic, or virtual means, or a combination of the foregoing. The meeting notice of all 
meetings of the Board that are held telephonically, electronically, or by other means not 
including physical presence shall include the method or procedure, including the conference 
number or link, by which members of the public can attend the meeting.  

The Board determines to hold regular meetings on the first Wednesday of February, 
May, August, and November at 12:00 p.m. by in-person means; provided, the Board may, from 
time to time, determine to hold any meeting at a physical location or by telephonic, electronic, 
or virtual means, or a combination of the foregoing, in its discretion as an administrative matter 
without the need for amending this resolution. 

  In addition, regular and special meeting notices shall be posted as identified above in 
accordance with Section 24-6-402(2)(c), C.R.S.  The Board directs the District Manager to 
prepare notices for posting in accordance with Section 32-1-903, C.R.S.  Legal Counsel shall 
revise the notices when the Board intends to make a final determination to issue or refund 
general obligation indebtedness, to consolidate the District, to dissolve the District, to file a 
plan for adjustment of debt under federal bankruptcy law, to enter into a private contract with 
a director, or not to make a scheduled bond payment. 

21. Annual Meeting. Because [the District was formed prior to January 1, 2000, the 
District is not required to hold an annual meeting as set forth in Section 32-1-903(6)(a), C.R.S. 
 
 22. Elections.  Katie Stahl of Spencer Fane LLP is hereby appointed as the 
“Designated Election Official” of the Board for any elections to be held by the District unless 
another Designated Election Official is appointed by resolution of the Board. In accordance 
with Section 1-1-111(2), C.R.S., 13.5 of Title 1, C.R.S., or applicable law, the Board hereby 
grants all powers and authority for the proper conduct of the election to the Designated Election 
Official and that the election shall be held and conducted in accordance with the Local 
Government Election Code, applicable portions of the Uniform Election Code of 1992, as 
amended and supplemented by Const. Colo. Art. X, Sec 20, the Current Rules and Regulations 
Governing Election Procedures of the Secretary of State of the State of Colorado, and Title 32, 
Article 1, Part 8, Colorado Revised Statutes, and other relevant Colorado and federal law.  
Further, the Board directs the Designated Election Official to notify the Division of Local 
Government of the results of any election held by the District, including business address, 
telephone number and the contact person; and to certify the results of any election to incur 
general obligation indebtedness to the Board of County Commissioners or the governing body 
of a municipality, in accordance with Sections 1-11-103, 32-1-104(1), and 32-1-1101.5, C.R.S. 

10



6 
 

 23.  Elections; Call for Nominations.  The District was formed on November 17, 
1999. For Districts formed prior to January 1, 2000, the call for nominations required by Section 
1-13.5-501 shall be made by: 

A. publication; and  
B. posting the information on the official website of the District. 

 
 24. Independent Mail Ballot Elections. The Board deems it expedient for the 
convenience of the electors that all regular and special elections of the District shall be conducted 
as an independent mail ballot election in accordance with Section 1-13.5-1101, C.R.S., unless a 
polling place election is deemed necessary and expressed in a separate election resolution.   

 25. Notice of Indebtedness.  In accordance with C.R.S. Sections 32-1-1604 and 
1101.5(1), the Board directs the District Manager to issue notice of indebtedness to the Board 
of County Commissioners and to record such notice with the County Clerk and Recorder within 
30 days of incurring or authorizing of any indebtedness. 

 26. Quinquennial Findings.  If requested, the Board directs the District Manager to 
prepare and file with the Board of County Commissioners the quinquennial finding of 
reasonable diligence, in accordance with Sections 32-1-1101.5(1.5) and (2), C.R.S. 

 27. Annual Report. If requested or required, the Board directs the District Manager 
to prepare and file the special district annual report, in accordance with Section 32-1-207(3)(c), 
C.R.S.  If the District was formed prior to July 1, 2000, the Annual Report is only due upon 
request by the Board of County Commissioners or governing body of the municipality, unless 
otherwise specified in the District’s Service Plan. 

 28. Disclosure of Potential Conflict of Interest.  The Board has determined that 
Legal Counsel may file general conflict of interest disclosure forms, if any, provided by the 
directors with the Secretary of State each year, which forms may be updated on an annual basis 
through information the directors give to Legal Counsel.  If a specific conflict arises regarding 
a certain transaction of the Board, the director is required to notify Legal Counsel at least five 
days prior to the date of the meeting so that the transactional disclosure form may be filed in a 
timely manner, in accordance with Sections 32-1-902(3) and 18-8-308, C.R.S.  Additionally, at 
the beginning of every term, Legal Counsel may request that each Board member submit 
information regarding actual or potential conflicts of interest. 

29. Special District Association.  The District is currently a member of the Special 
District Association (“SDA”), the Board directs the District Accountant to pay the annual SDA 
membership dues in a timely manner.   

 30. Insurance.  The Board directs the District Manager to at least biannually review 
all insurance policies and coverage in effect to determine appropriate insurance coverage is 
maintained. 

 31. Promissory Notes.  The District has no outstanding promissory notes.  
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32. Outstanding General Obligation Indebtedness.  The District has the following 
outstanding general obligation bonds or multiple fiscal year financial obligations: Series 2020 
Tax-Exempt General Obligation Refunding Bond, in the principal amount of $3,365,000; 
issued on September 3, 2020.    

33. Continuing Disclosure.  Legal Counsel shall provide continuing disclosure 
service if and as applicable to the bonds and other financial obligations of the District. 

34. Workers’ Compensation.  Pursuant to Section 8-40-202(1)(a)(I)(B), C.R.S., the 
elected and appointed officials of the District shall not be deemed to be employees within the 
meaning of Section 8-40-202(1)(a), C.R.S. Such exclusion shall apply for all policy years until 
such time as the exclusion may be repealed by the Board of Directors of the District or unless 
Legal Counsel at the direction of the Board acquires coverage. 

35. PDPA.  Pursuant to the provisions of the Colorado Public Deposit Protection 
Act, Section 11-10.5-101, et seq., C.R.S., the Board appoints the District Manager as the official 
custodian of public deposits. 

 36. Water or Sewer Rates.  The Board directs that any Board action to fix or increase 
fees, rates, tolls, penalties or charges for domestic water or sanitary sewer service rates will be 
taken after consideration at a public meeting.  Such public meeting will be held at least thirty 
days after providing notice to the customers receiving the water or sewer services from the 
District.  Notice will be made pursuant to and in a matter prescribed by Section 32-1-1001(2)(a), 
C.R.S. 

 37. Inclusions/Exclusions of Property.  The Board directs Legal Counsel to handle 
all procedures required under the Colorado state statutes regarding the inclusion and exclusion 
of property into and out of the District’s boundaries. 
 

38. Public Disclosure Statement.  Pursuant to Section 32-1-104.8, C.R.S., the Board 
directs Legal Counsel to prepare and record a special district public disclosure document, 
including a map showing the boundaries of the District, with the County Clerk and Recorder at 
the same time as any subsequent order or decree approving an inclusion of property into the 
District. 
 
 39. Underground and Aboveground Storage Tanks.  If applicable, the Board directs 
the District Manager to register and renew annually all underground and/or aboveground 
storage tanks with the state inspector of oils. 
 
 40. Underground Facility Locating.  If applicable, the Board directs the District 
Manager to provide accurate information regarding the boundaries of the District’s service area, 
the type of underground facility(ies) that may be encountered within such service area, and the 
name, address and telephone number of a person who shall be the designated contact person for 
the information regarding the District’s underground facilities, along with information 
concerning underground facilities that the District owns or operates which are not located 
within the designated service area to the Utility Notification Center of Colorado.  The Board 
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further authorizes the District to maintain its membership in the notification association as a 
“Tier 1” member, if applicable. 
  

41. Recording of Conveyances of Real Property to the District.  Pursuant to Section 
38-35-109.5(2), C.R.S., Legal Counsel is designated as an appropriate official to record 
conveyances of real property to the District within thirty days of such conveyance. 

 
42. Ratification of Past Actions.  The Board members have reviewed the minutes of 

every meeting of the Board conducted in 2023, and the Board, being fully advised of the 
premises, hereby ratifies and affirms each and every action of the Board taken in 2023.  

 
43. Emergency Liaison Officer.  The Board designates the President of the District, 

in his/her capacity as elected official for the District, as the Emergency Liaison Officer 
responsible for facilitating the cooperation and protection of the District in the work of disaster 
prevention, preparedness, response, and recovery with the Colorado Office of Emergency 
Management and any local disaster agencies.  The Emergency Liaison Officer shall have the 
authority to designate such agents as (s)he shall determine appropriate to perform any and all 
acts necessary to facilitate the responsibilities of the Emergency Liaison Officer.   

 
44. Execution of District Documents By Electronic Methods.  Where necessary, 

convenient and permissible by law, the Board authorizes the execution of District documents 
on behalf of the Board through electronic methods such as DocuSign, electronic PDF, or similar 
means and in multiple counterparts, all of which shall constitute single, valid documents of the 
Board as if signed in paper format.  

 
45. Official District Website.  If requested or required, the Board directs the District 

Manager to establish and maintain an official District website.  The official District website is: 
www.concordmetropolitandistrict.com.   

 
The District was formed on November 17, 1999 (prior to January 1, 2000). Therefore, 

no official district website is required under Section 32-1-104.5, C.R.S. If the District elects to 
establish and maintain an official District website, it may do so in the discretion of the Board 
either as set forth elsewhere in this Resolution or by separate Board action.  

 
46. Dates Herein.  All dates set forth in this Resolution shall be in 2024 unless 

otherwise specified. 
 
47. Automatic Renewal.  This Resolution shall be deemed renewed each year until 

terminated or a new resolution is adopted. 
 

 
[Signatures on Following Page] 
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Adopted and approved this 1st day of November, 2023. 
 

 
CONCORD METROPOLITAN DISTRICT  

 
 
      By:      
       President 
ATTEST: 

By:       
 Secretary 
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CONCORD METROPOLITAN DISTRICT

Schedule of Cash Position

September 30, 2023

Updated as of October 25, 2023

Debt Capital

General Service Projects Total

1st Bank Checking

Balance as of  9/30/2023 4,706.45$            ‐$   ‐$   4,706.45$             

Subsequent activities:  ‐ 

10/20/2023 ACWWA (209.35)                 ‐  (209.35)                 

10/20/2023 Transfer from ColoTrust 25,000.00            ‐  ‐  25,000.00             

10/23/2023 Bill.com Payments (22,308.71)           ‐  ‐  (22,308.71)            

Anticipated Bill.com Payments ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐ 

Anticipated balance 7,188.39               ‐  ‐  7,188.39               

Colotrust  General

Balance as of  9/30/2023 396,896.62          399,351.83           729,770.82          1,526,019.27       

Subsequent activities: 

10/10/2023 September P/SO Tax 2,798.08               6,995.23                ‐  9,793.31               

10/20/2023 Transfer to 1st Bank (25,000.00)           ‐  ‐  (25,000.00)            
Anticipated Transfer from Colotrust Reserve ‐  0.06  ‐  0.06 
Anticipated Transfer from Colotrust Mill Levy Stabilization ‐  0.05  ‐  0.05 

Anticipated balance 374,694.70          406,347.17           729,770.82          1,510,812.69       

Colotrust Reserve Fund

Balance as of  9/30/2023 ‐  0.06   ‐  0.06 

Subsequent activities: 

Anticipated Transfer to Colotrust ‐  (0.06)  ‐  (0.06) 

Anticipated balance ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐ 

Colotrust Mill Levy Stabilization Fund

Balance as of  9/30/2023 ‐  0.05   ‐  0.05 

Subsequent activities: 

Anticipated Transfer to Colotrust ‐  (0.05)  ‐  (0.05) 

Anticipated balance ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐ 

BOK Series 2019 P & I Fund

Balance as of  9/30/2023 ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐ 

Subsequent activities: 

Anticipated balance ‐  ‐  ‐  ‐ 

Anticipated balances 381,883.09$        406,347.17$         729,770.82$        1,518,001.08$     

Current Yield (As of 9/30/2023)

     Colotrust Plus 5.5058%
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Process Date Vendor Invoice Number Payment Method Amount

8/3/2023 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP Multiple BILL EFT 8,157.54$              

8/3/2023 Colorado Designscapes Inc Multiple BILL Check 801.67                    

8/3/2023 StudioBridge, LLC 23‐105 BILL Check 2,975.00                

10/23/2023 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 3833642 BILL EFT 1,334.15                

10/23/2023 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 3870822 BILL EFT 1,935.42                

10/23/2023 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 3834288 BILL EFT 2,785.87                

10/23/2023 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 3870882 BILL EFT 3,478.88                

10/23/2023 Colorado Designscapes Inc Multiple BILL Check 1,327.39                

10/23/2023 Spencer Fane LLP Multiple BILL EFT 2,697.00                

10/23/2023 StudioBridge, LLC Multiple BILL Check 8,750.00                

Total Claims Paid 34,242.92$            

Concord Metropolitan District

Claims Paid July 27 ‐ October 27, 2023
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RESOLUTION 2023-11-02 TO AMEND 2023 BUDGET 

CONCORD METROPOLITAN DISTRICT 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Concord Metropolitan District appropriated 
funds for the fiscal year 2023 as follows:   
 

General Fund     $ 
Debt Service Fund    $ 
Capital Projects Fund $ 

; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the necessity has arisen for additional expenditures or appropriations 
requiring the expenditure of funds in excess of those appropriated for the fiscal year 2023; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the expenditures are a contingency which could not have been reasonably 
foreseen at the time of adoption of the budget; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the necessity has arisen for additional appropriations and expenditures of 
funds as reflected by satisfactory evidence presented to and accepted by the Board of Directors at 
this meeting and set out in the amended budget attached hereto as Exhibit A; and 
 
 WHEREAS, funds are available for such expenditures from revenue funds available to the 
District; and 
 
 WHEREAS, upon due and proper notice, published or posted in accordance with the law, 
said proposed budget amendment was available for inspection by the public at a designated public 
office, a public hearing was held on November 1, 2023, and interested electors were given the 
opportunity to file or register any objections to said proposed budget amendment. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of the Concord 
Metropolitan District shall and hereby does amend the budget for the fiscal year 2023 as follows: 
 

General Fund     $ 
Debt Service Fund    $ 
Capital Projects Fund $ 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that such sums are hereby appropriated from the revenues 

of the District to the above-referenced Fund(s) for the purposes stated in Exhibit A and, if 
applicable, that such action of the Board is hereby ratified and approved nunc pro tunc as of the 
date of the actual expenditures. 
 

[remainder of page intentionally left blank; signature page follows]
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ADOPTED this 1st day of November, 2023. 

 
 
      CONCORD METROPOLITAN DISTRICT 
 
 
      By:       
       President 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
By:        
 Secretary  
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DE 8024585.1 

EXHIBIT A 
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CONCORD METRO DISTRICT 

ANNUAL BUDGET 

FOR THE YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2024 

20



10/27/23

ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL ESTIMATED BUDGET 1 BUDGET 2
2022 2023 8/31/2023 2023 2024 2024

BEGINNING FUND BALANCES 957,936$       1,090,958$    1,116,572$    1,116,570$    1,252,223$    1,252,223$    

REVENUES
Property taxes 423,550         438,740         424,040         438,740         561,525         560,523         
Specific ownership taxes 37,496           39,487           23,855           39,487           50,537           50,447           
Interest income 22,341           15,781           45,232           45,000           40,184           40,184           
SEMSWA reimbursements 31,566           - - - - -

Total revenues 514,953         494,008         493,127         523,227         652,246         651,154         

Total funds available 1,472,889      1,584,966      1,609,699      1,639,797      1,904,469      1,903,377      

EXPENDITURES
General Fund 82,882           117,000         74,467           113,533         119,000         119,000         
Debt Service Fund 273,437         279,993         36,458           274,041         280,000         280,000         
Capital Projects Fund - 700,743 - - 742,000         742,000         

Total expenditures 356,319         1,097,736      110,925         387,574         1,141,000      1,141,000      

Total expenditures and transfers out 
requiring appropriation 356,319         1,097,736      110,925         387,574         1,141,000      1,141,000      

ENDING FUND BALANCES 1,116,570$    487,230$       1,498,774$    1,252,223$    763,469$       762,377$       

EMERGENCY RESERVE 4,200$           4,300$           4,300$           4,500$           5,700$           5,700$           
AVAILABLE FOR OPERATIONS 307,685         319,887         373,161         342,988         412,663         412,350         
TOTAL RESERVE 311,885$       324,187$       377,461$       347,488$       418,363$       418,050$       

** Budget 2 refelcts revenues based on Preliminary Assesed Valuations if Proposition HH passes in November 2023.

SUMMARY
2024 BUDGET

 WITH 2022 ACTUAL AND 2023 ESTIMATED
For the Years Ended and Ending December 31,

No assurance provided.  See summary of significant assumptions. 
1 

PRELIMINARY DRAFT - SUBJECT TO REVISION
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10/27/23

ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL ESTIMATED BUDGET 1 BUDGET 2
2022 2023 8/31/2023 2023 2024 2024

ASSESSED VALUATION
Industrial 37,407,900$  37,233,470$  37,233,470$  37,233,470$  48,566,520$  48,480,123$  
State assessed 200 900 900 900 1,000             998 
Vacant land 210 210 210 210 310 309 
Personal property 23,166,340    25,442,520    25,442,520    25,442,520    31,650,000    31,593,280    

Certified Assessed Value 60,574,650$  62,677,100$  62,677,100$  62,677,100$  80,217,830$  80,074,710$  

MILL LEVY
General 2.000 2.000 2.000 2.000 2.000 2.000
Debt Service 5.000 5.000 5.000 5.000 5.000 5.000

Total mill levy 7.000 7.000 7.000 7.000 7.000 7.000

PROPERTY TAXES
General 121,149$       125,354$       125,354$       125,354$       160,436$       160,149$       
Debt Service 302,873         313,386         313,386         313,386         401,089         400,374         

Levied property taxes 424,022         438,740         438,740         438,740         561,525         560,523         
Adjustments to actual/rounding (472) - (21,437)          - - -

Budgeted property taxes 423,550$       438,740$       417,303$       438,740$       561,525$       560,523$       

BUDGETED PROPERTY TAXES
General 121,014$       125,354$       119,229$       125,354$       160,436$       160,149$       
Debt Service 302,536         313,386         298,074         313,386         401,089         400,374         

423,550$       438,740$       417,303$       438,740$       561,525$       560,523$       

** Budget 2 refelcts Preliminary Assesed Valuations if Proposition HH passes in November 2023.

CONCORD METRO DISTRICT
PROPERTY TAX SUMMARY INFORMATION

2024 BUDGET
 WITH 2022 ACTUAL AND 2023 ESTIMATED

For the Years Ended and Ending December 31,

No assurance provided.  See summary of significant assumptions. 
2 

PRELIMINARY DRAFT - SUBJECT TO REVISION
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10/27/23

ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL ESTIMATED BUDGET 1 BUDGET 2
2022 2023 8/31/2023 2023 2024 2024

BEGINNING FUND BALANCES 257,330$       298,238$       311,886$       311,885$       347,488$       347,488$       

REVENUES
Property taxes 121,014         125,354         121,154         125,354         160,436         160,149         
Specific ownership taxes 10,713           11,282           6,816             11,282           14,439           14,413           
Interest income 5,710             6,313             12,072           12,500           15,000           15,000           

Total revenues 137,437         142,949         140,042         149,136         189,875         189,562         

Total funds available 394,767         441,187         451,928         461,021         537,363         537,050         

EXPENDITURES
General and administrative

Accounting 25,644           33,000           22,330           33,000           36,300           36,300           
Auditing 4,200             5,000             - 4,600 5,000             5,000             
County Treasurer's fee 1,815             1,880             1,815             1,785 2,407             2,402             
Directors' fees 1,100             2,000             700 1,200 2,000             2,000             
Dues and membership 356 1,000             363 363 1,000             1,000             
Insurance 3,826             5,000             3,898             3,898 5,000             5,000             
District management 18,630           25,000           16,497           25,000 27,500           27,500           
Legal 12,283           17,000           4,113             10,000 15,000           15,000           
Miscellaneous 3,080             1,500             20,115           25,000 3,000             3,000             
Payroll taxes - - 54 92 100 100 
Election 710 2,000             845 845 - - 
Website 760 1,000             - - - - 
Contingency - 5,620 - - 4,693             4,698             

Operations and maintenance 
Repairs and maintenance 1,665             - - - - - 
Architectural - landscape review - 500 - - 500 500 
Landscaping 6,587             7,500             2,436             5,000             7,500             7,500             
Streets repairs and maintenance - 5,000 - - 5,000             5,000             
Utilities 154 500 52 250 500 500 
Water 2,072             3,500 1,249             2,500             3,500             3,500             

Total expenditures 82,882           117,000         74,467           113,533         119,000         119,000         

Total expenditures and transfers out 
requiring appropriation 82,882           117,000         74,467           113,533         119,000         119,000         

ENDING FUND BALANCES 311,885$       324,187$       377,461$       347,488$       418,363$       418,050$       

EMERGENCY RESERVE 4,200$           4,300$           4,300$           4,500$           5,700$           5,700$           
AVAILABLE FOR OPERATIONS 307,685         319,887         373,161         342,988         412,663         412,350         
TOTAL RESERVE 311,885$       324,187$       377,461$       347,488$       418,363$       418,050$       

** Budget 2 refelcts revenues based on Preliminary Assesed Valuations if Proposition HH passes in November 2023.

For the Years Ended and Ending December 31,

CONCORD METRO DISTRICT
GENERAL FUND 

2024 BUDGET
 WITH 2022 ACTUAL AND 2023 ESTIMATED

No assurance provided.  See summary of significant assumptions. 
3 

PRELIMINARY DRAFT - SUBJECT TO REVISION
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10/27/23

ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL ESTIMATED BUDGET 1 BUDGET 2
2022 2023 8/31/2023 2023 2024 2024

BEGINNING FUND BALANCES 42,299$         98,847$         102,870$       102,869$       177,919$       177,919$       

REVENUES
Property taxes 302,536         313,386         302,886         313,386         401,089         400,374         
Specific ownership taxes 26,783           28,205           17,039           28,205           36,098           36,034           
Interest income 4,688             2,598             8,506             7,500             10,000           10,000           

Total revenues 334,007         344,189         328,431         349,091         447,187         446,408         

Total funds available 376,306         443,036         431,301         451,960         625,106         624,327         

EXPENDITURES
General and administrative

County Treasurer's fee 4,537             4,701             4,538             4,701             6,016             6,006             
Paying agent fees 500 500 - 500 500 500 
Contingency - 5,952 - - 4,318             4,328             

Debt Service 
Bond interest 68,400           63,840 31,920           63,840           59,166           59,166           
Bond principal 200,000         205,000 - 205,000 210,000         210,000         

Total expenditures 273,437         279,993         36,458           274,041         280,000         280,000         

Total expenditures and transfers out 
requiring appropriation 273,437         279,993         36,458           274,041         280,000         280,000         

ENDING FUND BALANCES 102,869$       163,043$       394,843$       177,919$       345,106$       344,327$       

** Budget 2 refelcts revenues based on Preliminary Assesed Valuations if Proposition HH passes in November 2023.

CONCORD METRO DISTRICT
DEBT SERVICE FUND 

2024 BUDGET
 WITH 2022 ACTUAL AND 2023 ESTIMATED

For the Years Ended and Ending December 31,

No assurance provided.  See summary of significant assumptions. 
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10/27/23

ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL ESTIMATED BUDGET 1 BUDGET 2
2022 2023 8/31/2023 2023 2024 2024

BEGINNING FUND BALANCES 658,307$       693,873$       701,816$       701,816$       726,816$       726,816$       

REVENUES
SEMSWA reimbursements 31,566           - - - - - 
Interest income 11,943           6,870             24,654           25,000           15,184           15,184           

Total revenues 43,509           6,870             24,654           25,000           15,184           15,184           

Total funds available 701,816         700,743         726,470         726,816         742,000         742,000         

EXPENDITURES
General and Administrative

Accounting - 5,000 - - 5,000             5,000             
District management - 5,000 - - 5,000             5,000             
Legal - 5,000 - - 5,000             5,000             
Contingency - - - - 184 184 

Capital Projects 
Traffic and safety control - 250,000 - - 25,000           25,000           
Engineering - 5,000 - - 5,000             5,000             
Capital outlay - 430,743 - - 696,816         696,816         

Total expenditures - 700,743 - - 742,000         742,000         

Total expenditures and transfers out 
requiring appropriation - 700,743 - - 742,000         742,000         

ENDING FUND BALANCES 701,816$       -$                   726,470$       726,816$       -$                   -$  

** Budget 2 refelcts revenues based on Preliminary Assesed Valuations if Proposition HH passes in November 2023.

CONCORD METRO DISTRICT
CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND 

2024 BUDGET
 WITH 2022 ACTUAL AND 2023 ESTIMATED

For the Years Ended and Ending December 31,

No assurance provided.  See summary of significant assumptions. 
5 

PRELIMINARY DRAFT - SUBJECT TO REVISION

25



CONCORD METROPO DISTRICT 
2024 BUDGET 

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ASSUMPTIONS 

Services Provided 

Concord Metropolitan District (District), a quasi-municipal corporation and political subdivision of the 
State of Colorado, was organized by order and decree of the District Court for Douglas County on 
November 17, 1999, and is governed pursuant to provisions of the Colorado Special District Act (Title 
32, Article 1, Colorado Revised Statutes). The District’s service area is located in Douglas County, 
Colorado.  

The District was established to provide public streets, traf fic and safety, water, sewer, park and recreation, 
television relay and translation, and mosquito control facilities and improvements for the use and benefit 
of the inhabitants and taxpayers of the District. 

The District has no employees and all operations and administrative functions are contracted. 

The District prepares its budget on the modified accrual basis of accounting, in accordance with 
requirements of Colorado Revised Statutes C.R.S. 29-1-105 using its best estimates as of the date of 
the budget hearing. These estimates are based on expected conditions and its expected course of 
actions. The assumptions disclosed herein are those that the District believes are significant to the 
budget. There will usually be differences between the budget and actual results, because events and 
circumstances frequently do not occur as expected, and those differences may be material. 

Revenues 

Property Taxes 

Property taxes are levied by the District’s Board of Directors. The levy is based on assessed valuations 
determined by the County Assessor generally as of January 1 of each year. The levy is normally set by 
December 15 by certification to the County Commissioners to put the tax lien on the individual properties 
as of January 1 of the following year. The County Treasurer collects the determined taxes during the 
ensuing calendar year. The taxes are payable by April or, if in equal installments, at the taxpayer’s 
election, in February and June. Delinquent taxpayers are notified in August and generally sales of the tax 
liens on delinquent properties are held in November or December. The County Treasurer remits the taxes 
collected monthly to the District. 

The primary source of revenue is property taxes. The calculation of the taxes levied is displayed on the 
property tax summary information page. 

Senate Bill 21-293 among other things, designates multi-family residential real property (defined 
generally, as property that is a multi-structure of four or more units) as a new subclass of residential real 
property. For tax collection year 2024, the assessment rate for single family residential property 
decreases to 6.765% from 6.95%. The rate for multifamily residential property, the newly created 
subclass, decreases to 6.765% from 6.80%. Agricultural and renewable energy production property 
remains at 26.4%. Producing oil and gas remains at 87.5%. All other nonresidential property decreases 
to 27.90% from 29%. 

No assurance provided.  See summary of significant assumptions. 
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CONCORD METRO DISTRICT 
2024 BUDGET 

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ASSUMPTIONS 

Revenues (Continued) 

Specific Ownership Taxes 

Specific ownership taxes are set by the State and collected by the County Treasurer, primarily on vehicle 
licensing within the County as a whole. The specific ownership taxes are allocated by the County 
Treasurer to all taxing entities within the County. The budget assumes that the District’s share will be 
equal to approximately 9% of the property taxes collected by both the General Fund and the Debt Service 
Fund. 

Net Investment Income 

Interest earned on the District's available funds has been estimated based on an average interest rate of 
approximately 4%. 

Expenditures 

Administrative and Operating Expenses 

Operating expenditures include the estimated services necessary to maintain the District’s administrative 
viability such as legal, accounting, management, insurance, banking, meeting expense and other 
administrative expenses. 

County Treasurer’s Fees 

County Treasurer’s fees have been computed at 1.5% of property tax collections.  

Debt Service 

Loan principal and interest payments are estimated based on the loan financing documents.  

Capital Outlay 

Anticipated expenditures for capital projects for 2024 are outlined in capital project fund of the Budget 

Debt and Leases 

On October 24, 2019, the District issued its General Obligation Refunding Notes (Refunding Notes), 
Series 2019 in the total amount of $3,365,000, bearing interest at the rate of 2.89%. The Refunding Notes 
shall mature on December 1, 2034 with principal payments due December 1st. The proceeds from the 
Refunding Notes were used to refund all of the District’s Series 2010 Bonds. The notes are secured by 
and payable from revenue consisting of monies derived by the District from the following sources, net of 
any collection costs: 1) the Required Mill Levy, 2) the portion of the Specific Ownership Tax which is 
collected as a result of the imposition of the Required Mill Levy, and 3) any other legally available monies 
which the District determines to be treated as Pledged Revenue. Required Mill Levy means an ad valorem 
mill levy imposed upon all taxable property of the District each year in an amount sufficient to pay the 
principal and interest on the notes as they become due and payable. For collection year 2020, the District 
levied 5.000 mills for debt service.  

No assurance provided.  See summary of significant assumptions. 
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CONCORD METRO DISTRICT 
2024 BUDGET 

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ASSUMPTIONS 

Debt and Leases (Continued) 

The Refunding Notes were initially issued bearing Taxable Interest, which interest is included in the gross 
income of the recipient for federal income tax purposes. On and after the Tax-Exempt Reissuance Date, 
which occurred on September 4, 2020, the Series 2019 Notes were reissued as Tax-Exempt Notes 
Bearing Tax-Exempt Interest.   

The District has no operating or capital leases. 

Reserve Funds 

Emergency Reserve 

The District has provided for an Emergency Reserve equal to at least 3% of the fiscal year spending, as 
defined under TABOR. 

This information is an integral part of the accompanying budget. 

No assurance provided.  See summary of significant assumptions. 
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CONCORD METROPOLITAN DISTRICT
SCHEDULE OF ESTIMATED DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS TO MATURITY

$3,365,000 Taxable Refunding
Loan Issue

Series 2019, Dated October 24, 2019
Principal Due December 1
Interest Rate Fixed 2.89%

Year Ended Annual Debt
December 31, Principal Interest Service

2024 210,000$            59,166$              269,166$            
2025 215,000              54,378 269,378              
2026 220,000              49,476 269,476              
2027 225,000              44,460 269,460              
2028 230,000              39,330 269,330              
2029 235,000              34,086 269,086              
2030 240,000              28,728 268,728              
2031 245,000              23,256 268,256              
2032 250,000              17,670 267,670              
2033 260,000              11,970 271,970              
2034 265,000              6,042 271,042              

2,595,000$         368,562$            2,963,562$         

December 31, 2024

No assurance provided.  See summary of significant assumptions. 
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RESOLUTION 2023-11-03 
TO ADOPT 2024 BUDGET, APPROPRIATE SUMS OF MONEY,  
AND AUTHORIZE THE CERTIFICATION OF THE TAX LEVY 

CONCORD METROPOLITAN DISTRICT 
 
 
A RESOLUTION SUMMARIZING REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES FOR EACH FUND, 
ADOPTING A BUDGET, LEVYING GENERAL PROPERTY TAXES FOR THE YEAR 2024 
TO HELP DEFRAY THE COSTS OF GOVERNMENT, AND APPROPRIATING SUMS OF 
MONEY TO THE VARIOUS FUNDS IN THE AMOUNTS AND FOR THE PURPOSES SET 
FORTH HEREIN FOR THE CONCORD METROPOLITAN DISTRICT, DOUGLAS 
COUNTY, COLORADO, FOR THE CALENDAR YEAR BEGINNING ON THE FIRST DAY 
OF JANUARY, 2024, AND ENDING ON THE LAST DAY OF DECEMBER, 2024,   
 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Concord Metropolitan District has authorized 
its consultants to prepare and submit a proposed budget to said governing body at the proper 
time; and   
 
 WHEREAS, the proposed budget has been submitted to the Board of Directors of the 
District for its consideration; and  
 
 WHEREAS, upon due and proper notice, published or posted in accordance with the law, 
said proposed budget was available for inspection by the public at a designated public office, a 
public hearing was held on November 1, 2023 and interested electors were given the opportunity 
to file or register any objections to said proposed budget; and   
 
 WHEREAS, whatever increases may have been made in the expenditures, like increases 
were added to the revenues or planned to be expended from reserves or fund balances so that the 
budget remains in balance, as required by law; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the amount of money necessary to balance the budget for general operating 
purposes from property tax revenue is $____________; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Directors finds that it is required to temporarily lower the 
operating mill levy to render a refund for $   ; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the amount of money necessary to balance the budget for voter-approved 
bonds and interest is $_______________; and 
 

WHEREAS, the amount of money necessary to balance the budget for contractual 
obligation purposes from property tax revenue as approved by voters from property tax revenue 
is $____________; and 

 
WHEREAS, the amount of money necessary to balance the budget for capital 

expenditure purposes from property tax revenue as approved by voters or at public hearing is 
$____________; and 
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WHEREAS, the amount of money necessary to balance the budget for 

refunds/abatements is $_________; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the 2023 valuation for assessment for the District as certified by the County 
Assessor of Douglas is $________; and 
 
 WHEREAS, at an election held on November 2, 1999, the District has eliminated the 
revenue and expenditure limitations imposed on governmental entities by Article X, Section 20 
of the Colorado Constitution and Section 29-1-301, C.R.S., as amended. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 
CONCORD METROPOLITAN DISTRICT OF DOUGLAS COUNTY, COLORADO:   
 
 Section 1. Adoption of Budget.  That the budget as submitted, and attached hereto 
and incorporated herein by this reference, and if amended, then as amended, is hereby approved 
and adopted as the budget of the Concord Metropolitan District for calendar year 2024.   
 

Section 2.  Budget Revenues.  That the estimated revenues for each fund as more 
specifically set out in the budget attached hereto are accepted and approved.   
 
 Section 3. Budget Expenditures.  That the estimated expenditures for each fund as 
more specifically set out in the budget attached hereto are accepted and approved.  
   
 Section 4. Levy of General Property Taxes.   That the Board of Directors does hereby 
certify the levy of general property taxes for collection in 2024 as follows: 
 

A.  Levy for General Operating and Other Expenses.  That for the purposes of 
meeting all general operating expense of the District during the 2024 budget year, there is hereby 
levied a tax of _______ mills upon each dollar of the total valuation of assessment of all taxable 
property within the District for the year 2023.   

 
B. Temporary Tax Credit or Rate Reduction.  That pursuant to Section 39-1-

111.5, C.R.S. for the purposes of effect of a refund for the purposes set forth in Section 20 of 
Article X of the Colorado Constitution, there is hereby certified a temporary property tax credit 
or temporary mill levy rate reduction of _____ mills upon each dollar of the total valuation of 
assessment of all taxable property within the boundaries of the District for the year 2023. 
 
  C. Levy for General Obligation Bonds and Interest.  That for the purposes of 
meeting all debt retirement expense of the District during the 2024 budget year, as the funding 
requirements of the current outstanding general obligation indebtedness is detailed in the 
following "Certification of Tax Levies," there is hereby levied a tax of ________ mills upon each 
dollar of the total valuation for assessment of all taxable property within the District for the year 
2023.   
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  D. Levy for Contractual Obligations. That for the purposes of meeting the 
contractual obligation expense of the District during the 2024 budget year, as detailed in the 
following "Certification of Tax Levies," there is hereby levied a tax of _____ mills upon each 
dollar of the total valuation for assessment of all taxable property within the District for the year 
2023.   
 
  E. Levy for Capital Expenditures.  That for the purposes of meeting all 
capital expenditures of the District during the 2024 budget year pursuant to Section 29-1-
301(1.2) or 29-1-302(1.5), C.R.S., there is hereby levied a tax of _____ mills upon each dollar of 
the total valuation of assessment of all taxable property within the boundaries of the District for 
the year 2023. 
 
  F. Levy for Refunds/Abatements.  That for the purposes of recoupment of 
refunds/abatements of taxes pursuant to Section 39-10-114(1)(a)(I)(B), C.R.S., there is hereby 
levied a tax of _____ mills upon each dollar of the total valuation of assessment of all taxable 
property within the boundaries of the District for the year 2023. 
 
 Section 5. Property Tax and Fiscal Year Spending Limits.  That, being fully 
informed, the Board finds that the foregoing budget and mill levies do not result in a violation of 
any applicable property tax or fiscal year spending limitation. 
 
 Section 6. Certification.  That the appropriate officers of the District are hereby 
authorized and directed to certify to the Board of County Commissioners of Douglas County, 
Colorado, the mill levies for the District herein above determined and set, or be authorized and 
directed to certify to the Board of County Commissioners of Douglas County, Colorado, as 
herein above determined and set, but as recalculated as needed upon receipt of the final 
certification of valuation from the County Assessor in order to comply with any applicable 
revenue and other budgetary limits or to implement the intent of the District.  That said 
certification shall be in substantially the form set out and attached hereto and incorporated herein 
by this reference.   
 
 Section 7. Appropriations.  That the amounts set forth as expenditures and balances 
remaining, as specifically allocated in the budget attached hereto, are hereby appropriated from 
the revenue of each fund, to each fund, for the purposes stated and no other. 
 

[remainder of page intentionally left blank; signature page follows]  
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ADOPTED this 1st day of November, 2023. 
 
 

 
      CONCORD METROPOLITAN DISTRICT 
 
      
 By:       
       President 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
By:       

Secretary 
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LETTER OF BUDGET TRANSMITTAL 
 
 
Date:  January ___, 2024  
 
To:  Division of Local Government 
  1313 Sherman Street, Room 521 
  Denver, Colorado  80203 
 
 
 
Attached are the 2024 budget and budget message for CONCORD METROPOLITAN 
DISTRICT in Douglas County, Colorado, submitted pursuant to Section 29-1-113, C.R.S.  
This budget was adopted on November 1, 2023.  If there are any questions on the budget, 
please contact: 

 
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 
Attn: Denise Denslow 

8390 East Crescent Parkway, Suite 500 
Greenwood Village, CO 80111 

Tel: (303) 779 - 5710 
 
I, Jeffrey Evans, as President of the Concord Metropolitan District, hereby certify that the 
attached is a true and correct copy of the 2024 budget. 
 
 
      By: __________________________ 
       President 
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ATTACH COPY OF THE ADOPTED BUDGET AND  
THE CERTIFICATION OF TAX LEVIES 
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RESOLUTION 
OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF  

CONCORD METROPOLITAN DISTRICT 
PROVIDING FOR DIRECTORS’ EXCLUSION FROM  

WORKERS COMPENSATION COVERAGE 
  

WHEREAS, Concord Metropolitan District (the “District”) is a quasi-municipal 
corporation and political subdivision of the state of Colorado; and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 8-40-202(1)(a)(I)(B), C.R.S., the District may exclude 
appointed officials from the definition of "employee" within the meaning of Section 8-40-
202(1)(a), C.R.S.; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the District has found and does hereby find that it is in the best interests of 
the District to exclude appointed officials from workers compensation coverage as permitted by 
such statute. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of Concord 
Metropolitan District, County of Douglas, Colorado, that: 
 
 1. Pursuant to Section 8-40-202(1)(a)(I)(B), C.R.S., the appointed officials of 
Concord Metropolitan District shall not be deemed to be an employee within the meaning of 
Section 8-40-202(1)(a), C.R.S.  Such exclusion shall apply for all policy years until such time as 
the exclusion may be repealed by the Board of Directors of the District. 
 
 2. The Secretary of the District shall provide notice to such excluded officials 
promptly. 
 
 3. This Resolution shall be effective immediately. 
 
 RESOLVED this 1st day of November, 2023. 
 

CONCORD METROPOLITAN DISTRICT  
  
             
                By:       
             President 
ATTEST: 
 
 
By:              

Secretary 
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Error! Unknown document property name. 

Department of Labor and Employment 
Division of Workers’ Compensation 

633 17th St., Suite 400, Denver, CO 80202-3660 
Telephone: 303.318.8744   Fax: 303.318.8739 

 
EXCLUSION OF UNCOMPENSATED PUBLIC OFFICIALS   

Name of Agency:    Concord Metropolitan District 

Federal Employer Identification # (FEIN):   84-1521846        Business Phone #: (303) 839 – 3800  

Mailing Address: 1700 Lincoln Street, Suite 2000, Denver, Colorado 80203 

If Self-Insured Employer, enter the Permit Number:  N/A 

If not Self-Insured, enter the workers’ compensation insurance carrier name and policy number:  N/A 

Upcoming Policy Period:                   From: January 1, 2024                              To: December 31, 2024 
                                                                     Month / Year                            Month / Year 

 
List the Governing Body for the Agency, Category of uncompensated officials (i.e. board, commission, etc.) or any 
combination of categories of such officials that you are opting to exclude from coverage for the upcoming policy year, 
Names of Officials and Social Security Numbers of Officials (Attach additional pages if needed): 
 
Name of Governing Body:  Board of Directors of Concord Metropolitan District, Douglas County, State of Colorado 
 
Category 
Director  
Director  
Director  
Director  
Director  
 

 
Name of Official 
Jeffrey Evans 
Henry Vanderryst 
Michael Evans 
Vacancy 
Vacancy  

 
C.R.S. section 8-40-202(1)(a)(I)(B) provides an option to exclude from workers’ compensation insurance coverage 
uncompensated elected or appointed officials. You must promptly notify each official of your exercise of the option to 
exclude them.  This form must be filed with the Division of Workers’ Compensation not less than forty-five (45) days 
before the start of the policy period for which the option is to be exercised.   Attach governing body’s resolution.  
 
By signing this form, you are certifying that the above-named uncompensated, elected or appointed public officials are 
designated to be excluded from worker’s compensation coverage for the upcoming policy year, pursuant to C.R.S. 
section 8-40-202(1)(a)(I)(B). You are also certifying that these officials have been notified of this exclusion. 
 
 
Signature: ____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Print Name: Jeffrey Evans 
 
Date: November 1, 2023                       Title:   President 
 
 
Submit this form with the Governing Body’s Resolution to:  Division of Workers’ Compensation, Coverage Enforcement 
Unit, 633 17th St., Suite 400, Denver, CO 80202-3660.  If insured, please make a copy of this completed form and send it to 
your insurance carrier. If you have any questions, contact the Division of Workers’ Compensation Customer Service Unit 
at 303.318.8700. 
 
C.R.S . section  10-1-128(6)(a) s ta tes :  “  It  is  un law ful to know ingly provide  fa lse, incom ple te , o r m is leading facts  o r in form at ion to  an 
insurance  com pany for the  purpose  of defrauding  or a t tem pting  to  defraud  the  com pany. Penalt ies  m ay include  im prisonm ent , fines , den ial 
o f insurance, and  civil dam ages . Any insurance  com pany or agent  o f an  insurance  com pany w ho know ingly provides  fa lse, incom ple te or 
m is lead ing  facts  o r in form at ion to a  po licyholder o r cla im ant  fo r the purpose  of defrauding or a t tem pt ing to  defraud the  po licyholder o r 
claim ant w ith regard to a se t t lem ent  o r aw ard payable from  insurance  proceeds  shall be reported  to the Colorado d ivis ion  of insurance  
w ith in the  departm ent o f regulatory agencies .” 
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NOTICE / DISCLAIMER

The materials provided within this manual are for informational purposes only to assist in the 
development of commercial properties within the Concord Business Center. Although the information 
contained herein is from sources deemed reliable, there are no expressed or implied warranties as 
to the accuracy of said information.  It is the obligation of the Applicant and its consultants to conduct 
independent investigations and verify all matters pertaining to rules, regulations, ordinances, and 
codes of Douglas County, Colorado and the Concord Business Center. The information contained 
herein is subject to change without notice. 
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SECTION 1

PURPOSE
Concord Business Center is a 100 acre Mixed 
Use park located in Douglas County north of 
C-470 on Peoria Street, south of Centennial 
Airport.  The design vision for the Concord 
Business Center is to create and maintain a 
high quality business center in architecture and 
landscape. 

The purpose of this Document  is to assist a 
developer, tenant, or new owner who wishes 
to make improvements to their property within 
the Concord Business Center. The Design 
Guidelines will articulate the standards required 
for new improvements, defi ne the process for 
application to make improvements, and provide 
a checklist of exhibits required for the application 
to the Architectural Control Committee (ACC).  
These guidelines do not address street ROW 
improvements.

The ACC shall establish and implement 
all architectural and landscaping criteria, 
rules, regulations, and standards relative to 
the property.  The ACC shall adopt rules of 
procedure governing the time, place, and 
manner in which the business of the committee 
will be conducted.  Decisions shall be made by 
the ACC on a consistently applied basis, with 
a view toward the harmonious and attractive 
development of the property and to promote and 
safeguard the interests of all Owners and the 
declarants without discrimination.

These Design Guidelines are a revised and 
streamlined set of standards and processes to 
assist the Applicant in successfully completing 
their desired improvements.  These guidelines 
are based on previously prepared and recorded 
documents.  The Applicant is responsible for 
meeting all requirements of previous recorded 
documents and plans associated with the 
Concord Business Center, and all City, County 
and State Codes and Regulations.

Additional references:
1. Douglas County Industrial Park Planned 

Development and Light Industrial Zoning (PD)
2. Concord Business Center Development 

Manual (recorded with Douglas County Clerk 
and Recorder 10/22/99)

3. Declaration of Protective Covenants
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SECTION 2

LOCATION

Centennial Airport

PROJECT SITE

Colorado E470

I-25

E Arapahoe Rd   Hwy 88

Hw
y 83

Centennial

VICINITY MAP
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CONCORD BUSINESS CENTER

The Concord Business Center is located in Douglas County, Colorado.  It borders E. County Line Rd 
to the north, Compark Blvd to the south, S. Peoria St. to the west, and adjacent development to the 
east.

E County Line Rd

S Peoria St

C
oncord C

enter D
r

H
ighland Pkw

y

S Peoria St

Colorado E470

James E Casey Ave

Compark Blvd

Compark Blvd

Aviator Way

Liberty Blvd

SITE MAP

PROJECT BOUNDARY
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SECTION 3

APPROVAL OF PLANS
Subject to the provisions set forth in the 
Declaration of Protective Covenants, no initial 
construction, exterior alteration or demolition of 
the common areas, any building site, building or 
other improvement may be initiated without the 
approval of the plans and specifi cations for such 
construction or alteration by the Architectural 
Control Committee (ACC). The ACC shall 
have discretion to determine whether plans 
and specifi cations submitted for its approval 
are acceptable to the ACC, and the ACC shall 
be entitled and empowered, in accordance 
with the provisions of the Declaration of 
Protective Covenants, to enjoin or remove any 
construction undertaken pursuant to plans and 
specifi cations that have not been Approved by 
the ACC.  All improvements to properties must 
meet the requirements of these guidelines, 
zoning conditions and the recorded Planned 
Development.  For projects that the ACC deem 
as small in nature, a simplifi ed submittal process 
can be approved by the ACC.  After review of the 
Applicant’s project description in the application, 
the ACC will send a letter to the Applicant 
outlining the submittal process and necessary 
submittal information for review and approval.  
Example of small projects may be exterior 
painting, construction of an entry sign, paving 
renovations, etc.   

Review Procedure
At each stage of the application process, a letter 
from the ACC will be sent to Applicant outlining 
the ACC’s responses to the submittal.  The 
Applicant shall address the ACC’s comments 
in the following submittal. Upon completion 
of the application process, the ACC will state 
whether Approval has been granted and outline 
any conditions associated with the approval 
or reasons for denial thereof.  In the event 
conditional approval is given, fi nal approval will 
not be granted until all conditions have been 
satisfi ed.  Approval must be obtained before 
the Applicant may proceed with their project.  
Projects submitted for review will be processed 
in the order of which they are received.  Review 

time of Applications is dependent upon the level 
of complexity, size, etc.

Once the improvements have been 
unconditionally approved by the ACC, the 
Applicant shall provide to the ACC written notice 
of construction initiation at least seven (7) days 
prior to commencement of construction.  The 
ACC may make periodic in-progress inspections 
of the construction to ensure compliance with the 
approved plans and specifi cations.  

Any changes to the approved plans during 
construction must be approved in writing by 
the ACC prior to commencement of proposed 
changes.

Upon substantial completion of construction 
of the improvements, the Applicant shall notify 
the ACC that it is ready for an inspection. The 
ACC, upon request by the Applicant, will inspect 
the approved improvements to determine if 
the improvements have been constructed 
in accordance with all approved plans and 
specifi cations and if all other aspects of the 
site development are in compliance with the 
approved application.  Unless there is a need for 
completion or corrections as discovered during 
the inspection (in which case a re-inspection is 
required), the ACC shall issue a Certifi cate of 
Compliance to the Applicant.

Rejection of Application
Without limiting the generality of the ACC’s 
discretion to approve the required submittals, 
the ACC may disapprove any plans submitted 
for any one or more of the following reasons, or 
other reasons the ACC may specify:

1. Failure of the submittals or the Applicant 
to comply with any of the design or 
development standards set forth in the 
Design Guidelines.

2. Failure by the Applicant to include in the 
submittals such information as may have 
been required or reasonably requested by 
the ACC.

3. Objection by the ACC to the exterior design, 
color scheme, fi nish, proportions, style 
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or architecture, height, appearance, or 
materials of any proposed improvement.

4. Incompatibility of any proposed 
improvement with existing or future 
improvements in the vicinity of the proposed 
improvements, which determination shall 
be made by the ACC in its reasonable 
discretion.

5. Objection by the ACC to the location of any 
proposed improvement upon any building 
site or common area or with reference to 
other building sites or the common areas.

6. Objection by the ACC to the grading plan. 
7. Objection by the ACC to proposed parking 

areas due to insuffi  cient parking coverage, 
the location of the parking areas or the 
visibility of such parking area from any 
other building sites or common areas or any 
of the streets and roads located within or 
outside the property.

8. Failure of the submittals or the Applicant to 
comply with any applicable zoning, building, 
land use, or other laws, ordinances, 
rules, or regulations of any governmental 
authority aff ecting development of the 
subject building, improvements or building 
site, including, without limitation, the Zoning 
Conditions or any other restrictions limiting 
the percentage of building site which 
may be covered by the building, other 
improvements, or parking areas.

9. Objection to the ACC to the proposed 
lighting, landscaping or signage for the 
building site.

10. Objection by the ACC to the proposed 
construction schedule for the 
improvements.

Approval of any plans with regard to an 
improvement (i) shall not be deemed a waiver of 
the ACC’s right, in its discretion, to disapprove 
similar plans, or any of the features of elements, 
submitted for any other building, improvements 
or building site, and (ii) shall be fi nal as to the 
building site for which they have been submitted, 
provided that the improvements on such 
building site are constructed and maintained 
in conformity with the approved submittals, 
and the applicant has obtained a Certifi cate of 
Compliance.

Under no circumstance shall a Person submit 
its plans and specifi cations to the County 
or any other governmental authority having 
jurisdiction for review and approval unless 
and until it shall have fi rst received approval 
of such plans and specifi cations from the 
ACC.

Additional Design Criteria
In addition to the design criteria set forth in 
the Design Guidelines, the PD, the Concord 
Business Center Development Manual, and 
the Declaration of Protective Covenants, the 
ACC may from time to time promulgate and 
adopt additional design criteria that are not 
consistent with the objectives of the Declaration 
of Protective Covenants.  Any such additional 
design criteria adopted by the ACC may from 
time to time be amended by further action of the 
ACC. 

Variances
The ACC, in its reasonable discretion, may 
from time to time authorize variances from 
compliance with any of the standards adopted 
by the ACC when circumstances such as 
topography, natural obstructions, hardships, or 
aesthetic, environmental, or planning objectives 
or considerations may so warrant.  Each such 
variance must be approved by the ACC.  If 
such a variance is granted, no violation of the 
Declaration of Protective Covenants shall be 
deemed to have occurred with respect to the 
matter for which the variance was granted.  The 
granting of a variance shall not operate to waive 
or to render unenforceable any of the terms 
and provisions of the Declaration of Protective 
Covenants for any purpose except as to the 
particular improvement, building site, provision, 
and instance covered by the variance, nor shall 
the granting of a variance be deemed to set 
a precedent with respect to any subsequent 
requests for variances.  Notwithstanding any 
provision to the contrary contained in the 
Declaration of Protective Covenants, the ACC 
shall not delegate to any single member or group 
of members or to any other person the power to 
grant variances.  Upon granting of a variance, 
the ACC shall execute a document, in recordable 
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form, evidencing the variance.

Post-Approval Inspections
Following approval of any plans from the ACC, 
the ACC shall have the right, during reasonable 
hours and without prior notice to enter upon 
and inspect any building site or improvements 
then under construction to determine whether 
the plans that have been approved by the ACC 
and whether development and construction is 
proceeding substantially in accordance with 
the approved plans.  If the ACC shall determine 
that such plans have not been approved or that 
plans which have been approved are not being 
complied with in every material respect, the 
ACC may in its discretion give the Applicant, 
Owner or Occupant of such building site and 
improvements written notice to such eff ect, 
along with 30-day period to cure such non-
compliance.  At any time after the expiration of 
the 30-day cure period, the ACC shall be entitled 
to enjoin further construction and to require the 
removal or correction of any work in place that 
does not comply with approved plans.  If any 
improvements shall be altered or replaced or 
maintained on any building site otherwise than 
in substantial conformity with the approved 
plans, such action shall be deemed to have 
been undertaken without requisite approval of 
the ACC and to be in violation of the Declaration 
of Protective Covenants, and the ACC shall be 
entitled to take action as permitted under the 
Declaration of Protective Covenants.  The Owner 
of the building site shall designate a person to 
act as the Owner’s representative with respect to 
submittals to the ACC, and such person shall be 
responsible for construction of all improvements 
in accordance with the approved plans.  A fi nal 
Certifi cate of Compliance executed by at least 
three members of the ACC, which certifi es the 
substantial conformity of the construction of 
the improvements with the approved plans, 
shall constitute conclusive evidence of such 
conformity.

Interior Alterations
An Owner or Occupant may make improvements 
and alterations within the interior of any building 
on its building site without fi rst obtaining ACC 

approval, provided, however, that no person shall 
make any structural or other alterations in or to 
the interior of any improvements on its building 
site or remove any portion thereof or make any 
additions that (i) would involve public areas 
or other areas that would be visible from any 
boundary of the building site (ii) would materially 
change the exterior appearance of such 
improvements, or (iii) would or might jeopardize 
or impair the safety, soundness, or structural 
integrity of such improvements or of any other 
improvements in the property, without fi rst 
submitting plans and obtaining ACC’s approval; 
nor shall any person make any alterations or 
additions that impair any easements or the 
improvement setbacks without fi rst obtaining the 
ACC’s approval.

Construction After Approval
Upon receipt of approval from the ACC, the 
Applicant to whom the approval is given shall, 
as soon as practicable, satisfy any conditions 
thereof and diligently proceed with the 
commencement and completion of all approved 
construction.  Unless work on the approved 
construction shall be commenced within one 
(1) year after the date of such approval and 
thereafter continuously and diligently prosecuted 
to completion, the approval automatically 
shall be revoked, unless the ACC has given 
written permission for an extensions of time for 
commencing and completing work.  Construction 
of improvements on a building site or common 
areas shall include the installation of the 
approved landscaping and irrigation system.

Actions Binding
The ACC shall exercise its judgment to see 
that all buildings and improvements (including 
landscaping) conform and harmonize with 
existing and anticipated buildings and 
improvements in the property regarding fi nal 
design, quality, type of construction, materials, 
color, setting, height, grade, and fi nished ground 
elevation.  Actions of the ACC through its 
approval or disapproval of plans, specifi cations, 
and other information submitted pursuant to 
the Declaration of Protective Covenants, or in 
respect of any other matter before it, shall be 
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conclusive and binding on all parties. 

Communication to the ACC
All communication to the ACC shall be 
addressed as follows:

Concord Business Center 
Architectural Control Committee
Clifton Larson Allen
8390 E. Crescent Parkway, Suite 300
Greenwood Village, CO 80111
Attention: Denise Denslow

Rights of Third Parties
Neither the approval by the ACC of any plans or 
other documents with regard to an improvement 
nor the issuance of any certifi cate or statement 
by the ACC shall constitute any judgment, 
opinion, representation or warranty on the part of 
the ACC or any member thereof, the ACC staff  
or the appointing authority or any offi  cer, director, 
shareholder, employee, agent, or member of 
any thereof, as to the quality or soundness 
of the matters described in such plans or 
documents or of such improvements or their 
fi tness for any particular use or application.  In 
particular, no such action shall be construed as 
a representation to third parties concerning the 
habitability or the quality of the construction of 
any improvements or the absence therefrom of 
any defects or the compliance thereof with any 
law, building code, life safety code, governmental 
rule or regulation or zoning condition.

Should the ACC or appointing authority, or any 
offi  cer, director, shareholder, employee, agent or 
member of any thereof, be joined in any litigation 
as a result of or based upon any approval of 
any plans, or any construction undertaken 
pursuant thereto, the person or persons who 
submitted such plans to the ACC for approval 
shall, jointly and severally (if more than one), 
indemnify, defend and hold harmless the ACC 
staff , the appointing authority and each such 
offi  cer, director, shareholder, employee, agent or 
member, from and against any and all expenses, 
losses, or liabilities including, without limitation, 
court costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees, 

incurred by them (or any of them) in connection 
with or as a result of such litigation.

Approval for Minor Matters
If the ACC, in its reasonable discretion, 
determines that an approval requested by an 
Applicant is minor in nature, the ACC may, in its 
discretion, permit such Applicant to comply with 
such expedited and shortened procedure for 
obtaining the approval as the ACC shall require 
in lieu of the approval procedure otherwise set 
forth in the Declaration of Protective Covenants.

Appeals
Applicants may appeal any decision of the ACC 
made in accordance with the Declaration of 
Protective Covenants of the Owners Association 
(the “Board”).  Such appeal must be presented 
to the Board within fi fteen (15) days of the 
date the applicant receives notice of the ACC’s 
decision which is being appealed.  The Board 
shall respond to such appeal within thirty (30) 
days of the Board’s receipt thereof.
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APPLICATION PROCESS

Architectural Control Committee (ACC) 
In an eff ort to assure current and future owners 
at Concord Business Center that the adopted 
covenants, codes and restrictions are being 
enforced and that the overall design theme will 
be adhered to by future development, the ACC 
has been created.

The ACC is responsible or reviewing plans for all 
development, including construction of any type, 
landscaping, lighting, signage, deed restrictions, 
zoning changes, additions, repairs, and all other 
improvements.  All plans must be reviewed by 
the ACC to determine their compliance with the 
covenants and this document.

All plans for construction must be submitted 
to the ACC for approval.  Staff  review will take 
approximately 10 days per plan.  Final action 
will take place no more than 30 days from 
application of fi nal working drawings. For a 
typical project, fi ve (5) 24”x36” hard copies and 
one PDF copy of the required information, as 

outlined below, must be submitted.  One copy 
shall remain on fi le with one copy returned to the 
applicant with ACC comments.

Design Review Process
Prior to the submittal, the applicant should 
arrange to obtain a copy of the Concord 
Business Center Covenants, Conditions and 
Restrictions, copies of any available engineering, 
grading, utility, street and drainage plans.  In 
addition, the applicant should obtain copies of 
the Douglas County Zoning Regulation Code.

Submittal Process
For most projects, there is a fi ve step submittal/
approval process.

1.  Pre-application Conference
2.  Schematic Design Submittal
3.  Design Development Submittal
4.  Municipal Permitting
5.  Construction Document and Specifi cations 
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Submittal 
  

Application Fees
All reasonable costs actually incurred by the 
ACC in connection with reviewing the submittals 
shall be paid by the Applicant, and the payment 
of such costs by the Applicant shall be a 
condition precedent to any approval. 

Application Fees
The application fee is determined by the ACC 
based on the size and scope of the project 
under consideration.  After initial review of the 
application by the ACC, a letter will be sent to 
the Applicant outlining the fess associated with a 
formal submittal.

*  These fees assume a four step review process 
as outlined.  If additional steps are required, the 
ACC will assess additional fees.

The following sections describe the process for 
each step and the information required.

Pre-application Conference
Prior to the formal submittal of a request 
for approval, an informal conference is 
recommended between the applicant and the 
ACC.  This conference will serve to acquaint 
the applicant with the covenants and design 
guidelines of the Concord Business Center 
and allow the ACC to become familiar with 
the applicant’s development intent.  Concept 
site plans and concept drawings will aid in 
the discussion at this conference; however, 
applicants are encouraged not to prepare 
detailed schematic designs until after the 
conference.

Suggested material for discussion at the pre-
application conference would include:

1.  Site Plan 
•  Illustrate building size and location
•  Label project uses 
•  Illustrate total existing and proposed 

parking layout and number of parking stalls
•  Illustrate vehicular and pedestrian 

circulation
•  Illustrate landscaping areas
•  Illustrate outdoor pedestrian spaces

2.  Proposed construction schedule

Schematic Design Submittal
Review by the ACC will not commence until all 
specifi ed information has been submitted.  The 
material must be submitted one week prior to a 
regulatory or specially scheduled ACC meeting.  
The material should constitute schematic design 
level documents for architecture and landscape 
architecture.

The following must be included:

1.  Cover Sheet
•  Name of Owner, developer, and/or builder   
 (as applicant)

•  Name and address and telephone number 
of person who will maintain communication 
with the ACC.  This should be a person 
who will have a long-term responsibility for 
the project.

•  Name of Project
•  Name of architect, engineer, and landscape 

architect
•  Property address
•  Proposed use

2.  Site Plan
•  All property boundaries and easements
•  Required setbacks for buildings and 

parking areas
•  All existing and proposed elements labeled
•  Identifi cation of project phasing 
•  All adjacent streets and buildings identifi ed
•  Total parking required and provided
•  Total property area
•  Total building area (gross and net rentable, 

as applicable)
•  Total open space area
•  Total driveways, parking and loading areas
•  Screening of storage areas, mechanical 
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equipment, loading docks and trash 
receptacles

•  Site lighting locations

3.  Buildings
•  Typical fl oor plans
•  Building elevations - all sides
•  Materials schedule including material type, 

application, location, colors and fi nishes

4. Landscape Plan 
•  Illustrate all trees
•  Illustrate all existing and proposed shrubs
•  Illustrate all existing and proposed planting    

beds
•  Identifi cation of plant types and quantities 

not required at this stage

5. Grading and Drainage Plan

6. Proposed Schedule 

Design Development
The Applicant shall submit Design Development 
level documents for ACC Review including:

1.  Cover Sheet
•  All items required under Schematic Design 

Submittal

2.  Site Plan
•  All items required under Schematic Design 

Submittal
•  Site furnishings
•  Signage - include dimensions, materials 

and fi nishes
•  Hardscape material selections and colors 

3.  Buildings
•  All items required under Schematic Design 

Submittal
•  Architectural details and treatments

4. Landscape Plan
•  All items required under Schematic Design 

Submittal
•  All plant species identifi ed

5. Grading and Drainage Plan
•  All items required under Schematic Design 

Submittal

6. Lighting
•  Site lighting fi xture selection
•  Photometric plan

7.  Proposed Schedule 

Permitting
The Applicant shall prepare and submit all 
documents necessary for municipal permitting 
approval.  Applicant shall provide the ACC 
all documents submitted for permitting.  In 
addition, the Applicant shall provide to the ACC 
all correspondence related to the permitting 
including resubmittal documents and responses 
to municipal comments.  A copy of all approved 
permits shall be submitted to the ACC.

Construction Documents and Specifi cations
After preliminary approval, a fi nal application 
must be submitted.  The material submitted 
should constitute 100% complete construction 
documents and specifi cations for architecture 
and landscape architecture.

The following must be included:

1.  Cover Sheet
•  All items required under Design 

Development Submittal

2.  Site Plan
•  All items required under Design 

Development Submittal

3.  Buildings
•  All items required under Design 

Development Submittal

4. Landscape Plan
•  All plant species identifi ed

5. Grading and Drainage Plan
•  All items required under Design 

Development Submittal

6. Lighting
•  All items required under Design 
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Development Submittal

7.  Site Construction Details
•  Site construction details for all site 

elements

8.  Irrigation
•  Irrigation plans and details
 

9.  Proposed Schedule
   

Final Application Approval
The fi nal submittal will be heard by the ACC and 
approved or disapproved.  Detailed reasons 
for its disapproval will be given in writing.  
The application may be resubmitted with 
modifi cations as requested by the ACC.  Final 
approval in writing by the ACC is required prior to 
submittal of building permits.

51



DRAFT DESIGN GUIDELINES

SECTION 4

DESIGN GUIDELINES
The purpose of these guidelines is to provide 
a developer, tenant, or new building owner 
with a description of the Concord Business 
Center’s design goals, objections, and specifi c 
requirements for improvements within the 
Concord Business Center. The basic intent is 
to ensure and sustain a high quality mixed use, 
offi  ce, light industrial, and distribution campus 
with continuity of building concept and design.

It is understood that these Design Guidelines are 
general in nature, and subject to change by the 
ACC.  It is understood that should the Design 
Guidelines be in confl ict with local municipal 
code, the more restrictive guidelines shall 
prevail.

All site and building improvements within the 
Concord Business Center will be subject to 
review and approved by the Concord Business 
Center Architectural Control Committee (ACC).

Site Planning Requirements 

General
Unless specifi cally prohibited in these guidelines, 
land uses, building coverage, open space 
requirements, setback requirements, and other 
zoning considerations shall be compatible with 
current municipal code.

Site Grading

General
Site grading shall comply with the following 
minimum and maximum slopes in each area.  It 
shall be done to preserve as much of the natural 
topographic features as possible, provide for 
adequate drainage, and create comfortable 
pedestrian areas.  

Design Criteria
The following standards shall apply for site 
grading:

Area     Min    Max
             Slope   Slope
Planted Areas        2%     33%
Parking lot         1%       5%
Driveways and access drives      1%       6%
Pedestrian plazas        1%       2%
Sidewalks         1%       5%

Grading should be used to convey water away 
from building and structures and can be utilized 
to create berming for screening purposes or 
visual interest.

Parking Areas

General 
Parking areas shall be designed to provide 
adequate on-site parking for all building 
occupants and visitors.  No on-street parking is 
allowed.  The minimum parking ratios, parking 
stall dimensions, and parking setbacks are per 
local municipal code.  Tenant fi nish permits must 
demonstrate to the ACC and local municipality 
that adequate parking exists for any proposed 
use change.

No compact car spaces are permitted and 
handicap parking will be per building code and 
Americans with Disabilities Act Guidelines (ADA).

Design Criteria 
A landscape island 10’ wide and equal in length 
to one full sized parking stall shall be provided:

• At the end of each parking bay 
• Between parking stalls so that there are not 

more than 20 continuous parking stalls in a 
row, or less. 

52



CONCORD BUSINESS CENTER

Additionally, if there are more than four rows of 
parking, there shall be cross islands a minimum 
of 10’ in width running parallel to parking drive 
aisles.  Each landscape island shall be the full 
length of the parking row.

Site Lighting

General 
Each site shall be adequately lit to provide a 
safe and pleasant environment in the evening.  
Light fi xture styles should be compatible with the 
building architecture.

Design Criteria
No properties shall be lighted in such a way as to 
cause glare or light spillage onto adjacent lots or 
streets.  Wall packs are specifi cally prohibited. 

Site lighting shall consider energy effi  ciency.  
All lighting, unless it can be demonstrated 
for security reasons, shall be reduced to 
security lighting levels within one hour after 
the end of business until one hour prior to the 
commencement of business.  The use of motion 
sensors are highly encouraged. 

Signage lighting shall be turned off  within 
one hour after the end of business until one 
hour prior to the commencement of business.  
Demonstration of this control must be provided 
to the ACC.  Signs may be internally illuminated, 
backlit, illuminated by down lighting, or by 
ground mounted fi xtures provided that all light 
is contained on the sign facade.  Signage light 
levels shall not exceed 50 foot candles.

Blinking, fl ashing or changing of light intensity 
lighting eff ects are prohibited.  

Lighting a building facade to enhance 
architectural features may be permitted provided 
that all light is contained completely on the 
vertical face of the building.  Down lighting is 
preferred.  Up lighting may be permitted provided 
no light escapes the building facade.  Light levels 
on building facades shall not exceed 20 foot 
candles.  Pole mounted lights for the purpose of 
illuminating a building facade are not permitted. 

All new fi xtures are to be on a maximum of 
25’ tall poles, with an architectural style that is 
compatible with the building style.  New fi xtures 
shall be energy effi  cient LED fi xtures.

On sites where there is a need to modify existing 
lighting, the Applicant shall match existing 
fi xture styles as well as upgrade to more energy 
effi  cient fi xtures.

All new lighting shall be full cut off  as defi ned 
by the Illuminating Engineers Society of North 
America (IESNA).  A full cut of light fi xture results 
in a light distribution pattern where no light is 
permitted at or above a horizontal plane at the 
bottom of the fi xture.  

Signage

General 
The intent of this section is to create a well 
designed and implemented signage program 
throughout the park that has continuity of size, 
shape, materials, and detail.  All signs must be 
approved by the ACC and the local municipality 
prior to installation. 
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Design Criteria
All sign setback requirements shall meet local 
municipal code.  All requirements regarding size, 
colors, materials, lighting, etc. shall meet these 
guideline requirements or local municipal code, 
whichever is more stringent.

Signs are broken into two main categories: 
1) Identifi cation signage 
    and 
2) Directional signage.  

Identifi cation signage requirements shall be as 
follows: 

• Freestanding signs shall not exceed 6 feet in 
height.  

•  One freestanding sign allowed for each 
property parcel.  Multiple business’ may be 
represented on a single free standing sign

• Maximum sign area of 100 square feet per 
freestanding sign face. 

• Building mounted Wall Sign area shall not 
exceed 50 square feet in area.

• Building mounted Wall Signs are limited to 
one (1) per street frontage.

• Each use with a separate exterior entrance 
within the same building is permitted one (1) 
wall mounted sign.

Window signs shall meet the following criteria:
•  A maximum of three (3) Window Signs 

are allowed if the building face at the main 
entrance is equal to or less than 50 lineal 
feet in length.

•  A maximum of six (6) Window Signs are 
allowed if the building face at the main 
entrance is greater than 50 lineal feet and 
equal to or less than 300 lineal feet in length.

•  Six (6) Window Signs plus (1) additional 
Window Sign per additional 50 lineal feet 
in excess of 300 lineal feet of building face 
at the main entrance of the business are 
allowed.

Directional signage requirements shall be as 
follows: 

• Directional sign area shall not exceed 50 
square feet in area.

Temporary signage requirements shall be as 
follows: 

•  Temporary signage shall also meet the 
requirements of local municipal code.

•  Temporary signs may be displayed no more 
than 90 days in a calendar year.

•  Temporary sign area shall not exceed 100 
square feet.

•  Maximum number of temporary signs is one 
(1) per street frontage.

Signs and sign structures shall be maintained in 
a state of good repair.  Illumination of signs shall 
comply with the lighting criteria in this section 
and local municipal code.

No sign shall emit amplifi ed sound.  All signs 
shall be located outside vehicular sight distance 
triangles, shall not block pedestrian views of 
vehicular traffi  c, or be within any easements.

Roof mounted signs are prohibited.  Building 
mounted signs shall not project beyond 18” from 
the exterior building facade or higher than the 
highest point of the roof line.

Fencing

General
All fences must be approved by the ACC. 
Fencing must be high quality, architectural in 
nature that blends with the design of the building.
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Design Criteria 
Fencing shall meet the following criteria:
•  No fencing shall be erected in the Right of 

Way.
•  No fencing shall obstruct the view of vehicular 

traffi  c.
•  Chain link fencing is not permitted in any 

area.
•  Barbed wire fencing is not permitted in any 

area.
•  Maximum height of fencing in rear and sides 

of property parcel is six feet.
•  Maximum height of fencing in front of property 

parcel is four feet.
•  Approved fencing material includes:

- Wood
- Masonry
-  Stone
-  Architectural concrete block
-  Stucco
 

Building Standards

General
The intent of these standards is to ensure a 
high level of visual quality. design cohesiveness 
and harmony throughout the Concord Business 
Center.  The standards will guide future 
development to provide variety and visual 
interest and to encourage well considered design 
solutions which are compatible with site specifi c 
conditions.  All buildings of a common type are 
to be designed using common architectural 
elements. Approval by the ACC is based on 
the overall site planning, exterior design, and 
compatibility with adjacent projects.  Buildings 
shall be designed to be four sided.  Elevations 
with limited or no detail to adjacent sites or 
streets are prohibited. 

Design Criteria 

Building Articulation
Buildings should employ a variety of articulation: 

•  Wall off sets
•  Architectural detailing (pilasters, coping, 
cornices, etc.)

•  Recessed building openings
•  Grouping of windows
•  Awnings
•  Four-sided architecture

Materials and Finishes
The following are acceptable materials: 

•  Brick
•  Architectural block
•  Unglazed tile
•  Pre-cast concrete 
•  Stucco
•  The use of wood and metal is allowed 

but should be used in limited areas as 
architectural accents

• Thoughtful compositions of materials are 
highly encouraged

Colors
Proposed building colors should adopt the 
following guidelines:

•  A composition of colors is highly encouraged
•  Building color schemes shall be generally 

warm and rich in tone
•  Accent colors should be used to highlight 

entries, building bases, or special areas
•  Use of a single color throughout a wall 

elevation is prohibited

Building Entrances
Buildings entries should employ the following: 

•  Highly visible entry
•  Pedestrian arrival space/plaza
•  Canopy or portico
•  Roof overhang
•  Recesses or projections
•  Peaked roof forms

Example of existing building material composition
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•  Display windows
•  Outdoor seating area

Awnings
Awnings shall:

•  Be mounted at least 8’ above sidewalks
•  Not project more than 4’ from building face

Loading Areas/Docks
All loading areas must be screened from 
adjacent streets and adjacent sites.  It is 
preferred that off  street loading be located 
internally and not facing the street.  However, 
it is allowed as long as it is fully screened from 
adjacent street areas. 

Site Utilities
Transformers, gas meters, and other utility 
fi xtures are to be screened from adjacent sites 
and streets.

Rooftop Mechanical Equipment
All rooftop mechanical equipment is to be 
screened, either by the use of parapets or 
separate mechanical screens so as not to be 
visible by a 6’ person standing at the center of 
adjacent right-of-ways.

Outside Storage
Outside storage of any kind shall be by special 
ACC review.

Maintenance
Owners or occupants must maintain all buildings, 
drives, parking areas and landscaped areas in 
a high quality condition.  Buildings should be 
painted, windows cleaned, and the site in a neat 
and orderly fashion.  Any structure, driveway 
or landscaping area damaged by vehicles or 
elements must be promptly repaired.  Grounds 
shall be maintained and mowed and kept free of 
trash and weeds.  All plants must be maintained 
in a healthy condition.  Dead or dying plants 
must be removed and replaced prior to the next 
growing season. If maintenance standards are 
not maintained, the ACC shall issue a notice 
to the owner.  If the problem is not corrected 
in 10 days, the ACC shall correct the problem 
and charge the owner or occupant for the cost 
incurred.

Landscaping

General
Landscaping within parcels, along streets and 
in open spaces shall maintain and enhance 
the character of the Concord Business Center.  
Plantings shall be used to highlight building 
features, provide shade, reduce heat gain, 
screen parking, service areas, and storage 
areas.  

Design Criteria
The landscape plan required for submission and 
approval by the ACC must be prepared by a 
licensed Landscape Architect with experience in 
Colorado.

Landscaping, in accordance with the approved 
plan, is to be installed prior to obtaining a 
certifi cate of occupancy for the building except 
where seasonal limitations exist, in which case, 
the landscaping must be installed within 60 
days from the time planting operations can be 
undertaken.  Erosion control must be installed 
when seasonal conditions do not permit planting.

Hardscape
Hardscape design should adopt the following 
guidelines:

• Thoughtful compositions of materials and 
colors are highly encouraged

•  Hardscape design could complement the 
architecture

Paving
Allowed paving materials: 

•  Brick
•  Concrete 
•  Concrete unit paver
•  Stone
•  Crusher fi nes
•  Ornamental gravel

Prohibited paving materials: 
•  Asphalt (except in drives and parking 

areas)
•  Synthetic turf
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Retaining Walls 
Allowed retaining wall materials:

•  Boulders
•  Concrete unit block
•  Stone veneered walls
•  Decorative steel

Prohibited retaining wall materials:
•  Wood

Screen Walls 
Screen walls are allowed to screen utilities, 
loading docks, storage areas, etc.  Screen walls 
are typically taller than other fencing types and 
therefore fall into a diff erent category.  They shall 
be continuous in character and compatible with 
the architecture.  Screen walls must adhere to 
local codes.
Allowed fencing materials:

•  Concrete
•  Masonry
•  Stone
•  Decorative metal 

Prohibited screen wall materials:
•  Vinyl or plastic
•  Chain link

Fencing 
Fencing is allowed to screen utilities, loading 
docks, storage areas, etc. or to prevent public 
access.  Fencing shall be continuous in 
character and compatible with the architecture.  
Fencing must adhere local codes.

Allowed fencing materials:
•  Wood
•  Masonry
•  Stone
•  Decorative metal 

Prohibited fencing materials:
•  Vinyl or plastic
•  Chain link

Examples of approved screen walls

Example of approved retaining wall
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Approved Plant List
At least 80% of plant material proposed must 
be from the Town of Castle Rock, CO Approved 
Plant List (see Appendix).  The Approved Plant 
list emphasizes non-invasive, drought tolerant, 
pollinator, and native species.

All plantings shall be appropriate for the local 
climate.

Minimum deciduous tree size is 2” caliper.  
(Caliper is to be measured 12” above top of 
rootball).

All areas not paved or currently built upon must 
be landscaped and irrigated.  Large areas of 
gravel, bark mulch or bare soil are prohibited.  
Use of water conserving trees, shrubs and 
groundcovers is encouraged.

Areas to be developed in a future phase 
need not be landscaped or irrigated.  They 
do, however, require a minimum application 
of a drought tolerant seed mix that should be 
established and properly maintained to prevent 
erosion and provide for weed control and 
periodic mowing.

The irrigation system must be below ground and 
fully automated.  Use of drip irrigation for trees 
and shrubs is encouraged.  All backfl ow devices 
should be either underground or screened from 
view.  Overspray onto hardscape areas should 
be minimized.

Parking Lot Landscaping
Berming shall be provided as a means of 
screening parking areas from public streets.  
Where berming is not possible, heavier 
concentrations of evergreen trees and/or shrub 
plantings shall be used.

Examples of approved parking area plant screening

Examples of approved parking area berming
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SECTION 5

LANDSCAPE MAINTENANCE 
SPECIFICATIONS

GRASS AREAS
Mowing: All lawn grass areas shall be 
maintained at a height of approximately 2.5” to 
3”.  Mowing will include trimming and edging 
along curbs, around trees, light posts, signs, and 
sidewalks.  Excessive clippings will be removed 
and all clippings will be vacuumed or swept from 
sidewalks/or curbs.  Mowing is to be done on a 
weekly basis, weather permitting.  Native grass 
areas will only be mowed after grass species has 
completed its reseeding process.

Fertilization: Fertilization of lawn grass areas 
is to be done two times per year (May and 
October) using an organic, slow release fertilizer 
per manufacturers specifi cations. 

Weed Control:  Weeds are to be removed as 
often as necessary to prevent weed proliferation 
through manual means or by using an approved 
EPA approved herbicide.

GROUND COVER & SHRUBS
Fertilization: Fertilization will be applied twice 
a year with an organic, slow release 30-10-
10 ornamental shrub and tree fertilizer per 
manufacturers specifi cations.

Trimming and Pruning:  Trimming and pruning 
will be done as needed to remove dead wood. 
Shaping shrubs in prohibited.  Trees and shrubs 
shall be pruned to maintain their natural shape.

Weed Control:  Weeds are to be removed as 
often as necessary to prevent weed proliferation 
through manual means or by using an approved 
EPA approved herbicide.

Trees
Pruning and Trimming: All pruning shall be 
performed by qualifi ed personnel to maintain 
a natural appearance, to balance crown with 
root, to maintain growth, to eliminate diseased, 
damaged or weak growth and to reduce wind 

damage by thinning out crowns.

Evergreens shall be thinned when necessary to 
prevent wind and storm damage.

All pruning cuts shall be made to lateral 
branches or buds, or fl ush with trunk, and 
painted with industry standard tree paint.

Staking and Guying:  Stakes and guys are 
to be removed as soon as they are no longer 
necessary, generally after the fi rst full growing 
season.

Weed Control:  Basins around trees will be 
kept free of weeds.  Mulch is required within tree 
rings.

Feeding and fertilization:  All trees in native 
grass areas are to be deep-root fed in March 
and October.  The deep-root feeding is to be 
accomplished in such a manner as to break up 
the compaction around the root ball of each tree.

The trees within other areas need to be deep-
root fed only once per year.

A 25-10-10 tree and shrub fertilizer applied per 
manufacturers specifi cations is recommended.

Winter Wrapping:  Tree wrap shall be installed 
around thin barked trees such as Honey Locust.  
The wrap should be applied in November and 
removed in April or early May for the fi rst three 
seasons after installation.

IRRIGATION
Irrigation shall be scheduled for the hours 
between 9pm and 5am and will not be done 
on the night before mowing is scheduled.  All 
possible eff orts will be made to avoid irrigation 
during rainstorms or after heavy rains.

Irrigated turf shall be irrigated at a frequency and 
quantity that will prevent serious visible moisture 
stress, yet is not excessive.  Recommended 
frequency is 3 days per week.  Peak season 
(July and August) application rates will target 
1.75 inches of water per week.
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All irrigation systems shall be maintained in 
good repair and any problems (e.g. blown 
head, ruptured pipe, etc.) shall be repaired as 
quickly as practical.  All systems will be properly 
winterized by qualifi ed irrigation personnel.

TRASH REMOVAL
All areas:  All foreign debris will be removed 
from the lawn areas prior to mowing.  Trash will 
be picked up on a weekly basis in the non-lawn 
areas.

INSECT AND DISEASE CONTROL
All areas:  Insect and disease control will be on 
an “as needed” basis.  However, contractor must 
spray for insect and disease control within 48 
hours of diagnosis.

WINTER INSPECTIONS
All areas:  An inspection of the trees, shrubs, 
and ground covers shall be made at least twice 
each winter month to ascertain correct moisture 
levels and to identify other problems which might 
arise.

REPLACEMENT OF PLANTS
All areas:  All dead material will be removed 
upon diagnosis and replaced as practical.
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DRAFT DESIGN GUIDELINES

APPENDIX
 
•  Town of Castle Rock, CO Approved Plant List
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Property Owner Lead Contact if Different than Applicant

Name 

Company 

Address 

Phone 

Email 

Name 

Company 

Address 

Phone 

Email 

Signature          Date Signature          Date 

Development Application 
Concord Business Center
Englewood, Colorado

 All applicable sections must be completed
 All required attachments must be included

This application does not cover municipal permitting 
submittal requirements.

 Application fee $500.00.  Additional fees determined 
by the ACC based on application process.



Instructions 

Project Information Project Location

Address 

Approximate 
Location 

Total Propery Area

Project Name

Name of Architect/Engineer/Landscape Architect

Proposed use

Project Description

Project Name 

Job # Date 

Planning Fee Check # 

For Office Use Only 

CERTIFICATION 
I certify the information and exhibits submitted are true and correct to the best of my knowledge and that in filing this application, I am acting with the 
knowledge, consent, and authority of the owners of the real property, without whose consent and authority the requested action could not lawfully 
be accomplished. 

Applicant: Date: 
Name (printed) 

By: 
Signature 


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1. Pre-Application Conference

2. Schematic Design Submittal

3. Design Development Submittal

CONCORD BUSINESS CENTER Application Process Checklist

Overall Checklist

YES    NO    N/A

Pre-application Conference

1. Site Plan

Illustrate building size and location

Label project uses

Illustrate parking layout and number of parking stalls

Illustrate vehicular and pedestrian circulation

Illustrate landscaping areas

Illustrate outdoor pedestrian spaces

2. Construction Schedule

Provide proposed construction schedule

Name of Owner, developer, and/or builder (as applicant)

Name and address and telephone number of person who will maintain communication with 

the ACC. This should be a person who will have a long-term responsibility for the project. 

Name of Project

Name of architect, engineer, and landscape architect

Property address

Proposed use

2. Site Plan

All property boundaries and easements

Required setbacks for buildings and parking areas

All existing and proposed elements labeled

Identification of project phasing and schedule

All adjacent streets and buildings identified

Total parking required and provided

Total property area

Total building area (gross and net rentable, as applicable)

Total open space area

Total driveways, parking and loading areas

Screening of storage areas, mechanical equipment, loading docks and trash receptacles 

Site lighting locations

Total open space area

Total driveways, parking and loading areas

Screening of storage areas, mechanical equipment, loading docks and trash receptacles 

Site lighting locations

Schematic Design Submittal 

YES    NO    N/A 1. Cover Sheet

4. Permitting

5. Construction Document and Specifications Submittal
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Application Process Checklist CONCORD BUSINESS CENTER 

Schematic Design Submittal (cont'd)

YES    NO    N/A 3. Buildings

Typical floor plans

Building elevations

Materials schedule including material type, application, location, colors and finishes

4. Landscape Plan

Illustrate all trees

Illustrate all existing and proposed shrubs

Illustrate all existing and proposed planting beds

Identification of plant types and quantities not required at this stage

5. Grading and Drainage Plan

Provide grading and drainage plan

6. Proposed Schedule

Provide proposed construction schedule

YES    NO    N/A 1. Cover Sheet

All items required under Schematic Design Submittal

2. Site Plan

All items required under Schematic Design Submittal

Site furnishings

Signage - include dimensions, materials and finishes

Hardscape material selections and colors

3. Buildings

All items required under Schematic Design Submittal

Architectural details and treatments

4. Landscape Plan

All items required under Schematic Design Submittal

All plant species identified

5. Grading and Drainage Plan

All items required under Schematic Design Submittal

6. Lighting

Site lighting fixture selection

Photometric plan

7. Proposed schedule

Provide proposed construction schedule

Design Development Submittal
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YES    NO    N/A

Application Process Checklist

Total driveways, parking and loading areas

Building elevations - all sides

Materials schedule including material type, application, location, colors and finishes

CONCORD BUSINESS CENTER 

Permitting Submittal 

Provide all documents necessary for municipal permitting approval.  

Provide all correspondence related to the permitting including resubmittal 

documents and responses to municipal comments.do

Provide a copy of all approved permits

1. Cover Sheet

All items required under Design Development Submittal 

2. Site Plan

All items required under Design Development Submittal 

3. Buildings

All items required under Design Development Submittal 

4. Landscape Plan

All items required under Design Development Submittal 

All plant species identified

5. Grading and Drainage Plan

All items required under Design Development Submittal 

6. Lighting

All items required under Design Development Submittal 

7. Site Construction Details

Site construction details for all site elements

8. Irrigation

Irrigation plans and details

9. Proposed schedule

Provide proposed construction schedule

YES    NO    N/A

Construction Documents and Specifications Submittal 
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CliftonLarsonAllen LLP

https://www.claconnect.com

Special Districts Master Services Agreement
Concord Metro District 

8390 E. Crescent Pkwy., Ste.300, Greenwood Village, CO, 80111 

MSA Date: October 15, 2023 

This master service agreement (“MSA”) documents the terms, objectives, and the nature and limitations of 

the services CliftonLarsonAllen LLP (“CLA,” “we,” “us,” and “our”) will provide for Concord Metro District 

(“you,” “your,” “board of directors” or “the district”). The terms of this MSA will apply to the initial and each 

subsequent statement of work (“SOW”), unless the MSA is changed in a communication that you and CLA 

both sign or is terminated as permitted herein.

Scope of professional services

CLA will provide services as described in one or more SOW that will reference this MSA. The SOW will 

describe the scope of professional services; the nature, limitations, and responsibilities related to the 

specific services CLA will provide; and the fees for such services. 

 
If modifications or changes are required during CLA’s performance of requested services, or if you request 

that we perform any additional services, we will provide you with a separate SOW for your signature. Such 

SOW will advise you of the additional fee and time required for such services to facilitate a clear 

understanding of the services.

 
Our services cannot be relied upon to disclose errors, fraud, or noncompliance with laws and regulations. 

Except as described in the scope of professional services section of this MSA or any applicable SOW, we 

have no responsibility to identify and communicate deficiencies in your internal control as part of any 

services.

Board of director responsibilities

The board of directors of the district acknowledge and understand that our role is to provide the services 

identified in one or more SOWs issued per this MSA and that the board of directors of the district has 

certain responsibilities that are fundamental to our undertaking to perform the identified services. The 

district may engage CLA to perform management functions to help the board of directors of the district to 

meet your responsibilities, but the board of directors of the district acknowledges its role in management of 

the district. 

Responsibilities and limitations related to nonattest services

For all nonattest services we may provide to you, you agree to oversee all management  services; evaluate 
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the adequacy and results of the services; ensure that your data and records are complete; and accept 

responsibility for the results of the services. CLA and the district agree that the foregoing sentence is not 

intended and shall not be construed to be a limitation of liability for the benefit of CLA nor an exculpatory 

clause for the benefit of CLA. CLA is and will remain liable to the district for CLA’s negligence and gross 

negligence in the work that it performs under this MSA or under any SOW.   

Fees and terms

See the applicable SOW for the fees for the services. 

 
Work may be suspended if your account becomes 60 days or more overdue and will not be resumed until 

your account is paid in full. If we elect to terminate our services for nonpayment, our engagements will be 

deemed to have been completed even if we have not completed the services. You will be obligated to 

compensate us for all time expended and to reimburse us for all out-of-pocket expenditures permitted by 

this MSA through the date of termination.

 
Payments may be made utilizing checks, Bill.com, your online banking platform, CLA’s electronic payment 

platform, or any other client initiated payment method approved by CLA. CLA’s electronic online bill pay 

platform claconnect.com/billpay accepts credit card and Automated Clearing House (ACH) payments. 

Instructions for making direct bank to bank wire transfers or ACH payments will be provided upon request.

Other Fees

You also agree to compensate us for any time and expenses, including time and expenses of legal counsel, 

we may incur in responding to discovery requests or participating as a witness or otherwise in any legal, 

regulatory, or other proceedings that we are asked to respond to on your behalf.

Finance charges and collection expenses

You agree that if any statement is not paid within 30 days from its billing date, the unpaid balance shall 

accrue interest at the monthly rate of one percent (1.00%), which is an annual percentage rate of 12%. In 

the event that any collection action is required to collect unpaid balances due us, reasonable attorney fees 

and expenses shall be recoverable if and as provided by Colorado law.

Limitation of remedies

Each party agrees that in no event shall the other party be liable for any indirect, special, incidental, 

consequential, punitive or exemplary damages, or for loss of profits or loss of goodwill, costs, or attorney 

fees.

 
The exclusive remedy available to you shall be the right to pursue claims for actual damages related to 

CLA’s acts or omissions in performance of our duties under the terms of this MSA or any SOW issued under 

this MSA.

Time limitation

The nature of our services makes it difficult, with the passage of time, to gather and present evidence that 

fully and fairly establishes the facts underlying any dispute that may arise between you and any CLA party. 

Any legal or equitable action brought by the district to recover on a dispute shall be commenced within the 

applicable statute of limitations under Colorado state statutes and case law.
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CLA shall be authorized to the following cash access services:

• Using any or a combination of the following methods and approval processes, we will pay your 

vendors and service providers based upon invoices that you have reviewed and approved:

• Paper checks – we will prepare the checks for your approval and wet ink signature

• Payments using Bill.com – we will only release payments after you have electronically 

approved and authorized such payments

• ACH/Wire – we will use this method as needed/as requested, with your approval

We understand that you will designate one or more members of the board of directors to approve 

disbursements using the above methods. 

• If applicable, access the entity credit card for purposes of purchasing products and services on 

your behalf up to a certain limit that will be discussed with you and documented separately

• Obtain administrator access to your bank accounts for purposes of performing the duties 

documented in our engagement letter identified above

• Take deposits to the bank that include cash

• If applicable, have access to cash-in-kind assets, such as coupons

• If applicable, initiate direct deposits or sign checks as part of the payroll processing function

Board of Directors’ responsibilities relevant to CLA’s access to your cash

All members of your board of directors are responsible for the processes below; however, we understand 

that you will designate one or more board of directors to review and give approvals for disbursements. All 

approvals must be documented in writing, either electronically or manually, then formally ratified in board 

meetings and documented in the meeting minutes.

• Approve all invoices and check payments

• Approve all new vendors and customers added to the accounting system

• Approve non-recurring wires to external parties

• Pre-approve for recurring wires, then board of directors will ratify approval

• Approve all new employees and all employee status changes prior to those employees or changes 

being added to the payroll system

• Approve all credit card statements prior to those expenses being processed in the accounting 

system and subsequently paid
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• Approve (or delegate to the CLA controller if applicable) all customer and vendor credit memos 

and accounts receivable amounts written off

• Review and approve (or delegate to the CLA controller if applicable) all bank statements and 

affiliated monthly reconciliations

Other provisions

Except as expressly permitted by the “Consent” section of this agreement, CLA shall not disclose any 

confidential, proprietary, or privileged information of the district or you to any person or party, unless the 

district or you authorizes us to do so, it is published or released by the district, it becomes publicly known 

or available other than through disclosure by us, or disclosure is required by law. This confidentiality 

provision does not prohibit us from disclosing your information to one or more of our affiliated companies 

in order to provide services that you have requested from us or from any such affiliated company. Any such 

affiliated company shall be subject to the same restrictions on the use and disclosure of your information as 

apply to us. 

 
Pursuant to authority given by law or regulation, we may be requested to make certain workpapers 

available to a regulator for its regulatory oversight purposes. We will notify you of any such request, if 

permitted by law. Access to the requested workpapers will be provided to the regulator under the 

supervision of CLA personnel and at a location designated by our firm. Furthermore, upon request, we may 

provide copies of selected workpapers to such regulator. The regulator may intend, or decide, to distribute 

the copies or information contained therein to others, including other governmental agencies. 

You acknowledge and agree that this agreement and the pricing structure and billing rates of CLA are 

sensitive information which you shall not furnish or otherwise disclose to any third party without the prior 

written consent of CLA or as required by the Colorado Open Records Act, Section 24-72-200.1 et seq., 

C.R.S. (“CORA”). 

 
Insurance:

 
CLA shall acquire and maintain in full force and effect, during the entire term of the MSA, the insurance 

coverages set forth in below in order to protect the district including its board of directors, and CLA from 

claims that arise out of or result from the operations under this MSA by the CLA or its affiliates or by 

anyone acting on their behalf or for which they may be liable.  Failure to maintain the insurance policies 

shall be a material breach of this MSA and the district may request certificates of insurance reflecting the 

coverages outlined below.

A. Workers’ Compensation Insurance

B. Commercial General Liability Insurance

C. Commercial Automobile Liability Insurance

D. General Professional Liability

E. Network Security (Cyber) Liability Insurance
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F. Excess/Umbrella Liability Coverage

The relationship of CLA with the district shall be solely that of an independent contractor and nothing in 

this agreement shall be construed to create or imply any relationship of employment, agency, partnership, 

or any relationship other than an independent contractor. 

 
If applicable, accounting standards and procedures will be suggested that are consistent with those 

normally utilized in a district of your size and nature. Internal controls may be recommended relating to the 

safeguarding of the district’s assets. If fraud is initiated by your employees or other service providers, your 

insurance is responsible for covering any losses. 

 
The district agrees that CLA will assume fiduciary responsibility on the district’s behalf during the course of 

this agreement only if provided in SOWs issued under this MSA; and the parties, in entering into this MSA, 

do not intend to create an overarching fiduciary relationship.

 
CLA may, at times, utilize external web applications to receive and process information from our clients; 

however, it is not appropriate for you to upload protected health information using such applications. All 

protected health information contained in a document or file that you plan to transmit to us via a web 

application must be redacted by you to the maximum extent possible prior to uploading the document or 

file. In the event that you are unable to remove or obscure all protected health information, please contact 

us to discuss other potential options for transmitting the document or file.

Annual Appropriation and Budget

The district does not intend hereby to create a multiple-fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial 

obligation whatsoever.  CLA expressly understands and agrees that the district’s obligations under this MSA 

shall extend only to monies appropriated for the purposes of this MSA by the board of directors and shall 

not constitute a mandatory charge, requirement or liability in any ensuing fiscal year beyond the then-

current fiscal year.  No provision of this MSA shall be construed or interpreted as a delegation of 

governmental powers by the district, or as creating a multiple-fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other 

financial obligation whatsoever of the district or statutory debt limitation, including, without limitation, 

Article X, Section 20 or Article XI, Section 6 of the Constitution of the State of Colorado.  No provision of 

this MSA shall be construed to pledge or to create a lien on any class or source of district funds.  The 

district’s obligations under this MSA exist subject to annual budgeting and appropriations, and shall 

remain subject to the same for the entire term of this MSA.

Governmental Immunity

Nothing in this MSA shall be construed to waive, limit, or otherwise modify, in whole or in part, any 

governmental immunity that may be available by law to the district, its respective officials, employees, 

contractors, or agents, or any other person acting on behalf of the district and, in particular, governmental 

immunity afforded or available to the district pursuant to the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, §§ 

24-10-101, et seq., C.R.S.

No Third-Party Beneficiaries

It is expressly understood and agreed that enforcement of the terms and conditions of this MSA, and all 

rights of action relating to such enforcement, shall be strictly reserved to the Parties and nothing contained 
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in this MSA shall give or allow any such claim or right of action by any third party. It is the express 

intention of the Parties that any person other than Parties receiving services or benefits under this MSA 

shall be deemed to be an incidental beneficiary only.

Personal Identifying Information

During the performance of this MSA, the district may disclose Personal Identifying Information to CLA. 

“Personal Identifying Information” means a social security number; a personal identification number; a 

password; a pass code; an official state or government-issued driver’s license or identification card number; 

a government passport number; biometric data, as defined in § 24-73-103(1)(a), C.R.S.; an employer, 

student, or military identification number; or a financial transaction device, as defined in § 18-5-701(3), 

C.R.S. In compliance with § 24-73-102, C.R.S., CLA agrees to implement and maintain reasonable security 

procedures and practices that are: (i) appropriate to the nature of the Personal Identifying Information 

disclosed to CLA; and (ii) reasonably designed to help protect the Personal Identifying Information from 

unauthorized access, use, modification, disclosure, or destruction.

 
CLA agrees to report within twenty-four (24) hours to the district’s board of directors any 

Data Security Incidents that may result in the unauthorized disclosure of Personal 

Identifying Information.  For the purposes of this MSA “Data Security Incident” is defined to 

mean any actual or reasonably suspected:  (a) unauthorized use of, or unauthorized access 

to, CLA systems; (b) inability to access business and other proprietary information, data, or 

the CLA systems due to a malicious use, attack, or exploit of such business and other 

proprietary information or systems; (c) unauthorized access to, theft of, or loss of business 

and other proprietary information, or of storage devices that could reasonably contain such 

information; (d) unauthorized use of business and other proprietary information or data for 

purposes of actual or reasonably suspected theft, fraud, or identity theft; (e) unauthorized 

disclosure of business and other proprietary information or data. 

Consent to use financial information

Annually, we assemble a variety of benchmarking analyses using data obtained through our client 

engagements. Some of this benchmarking information is published and released publicly. However, the 

information that we obtain is confidential, as required by the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct. Your 

acceptance of this MSA will serve as your consent to use of Concord Metro District information, excluding 

Personal Identifying Information, in these cost comparison, performance indicator, and/or benchmarking 

reports.

Technology

CLA may, at times, use third-party software applications to perform services under this agreement. CLA can 

provide a copy of the application agreement at your request. You acknowledge the software vendor may 

have access to your data.

 
Colorado law requires special districts to maintain websites and further requires that certain documents 

which may be prepared by CLA to be uploaded to those websites. CLA specifically acknowledges and agrees 

that the district may upload to its website any documents prepared by CLA for the district and further, that 

those documents may be used in public meetings hosted by or to which the district is a party.
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Counterpart Execution

This MSA may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, and all of which 

together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

Electronic Signatures

The parties consent to the use of electronic signatures pursuant to the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act, 

Sections 24-71.3-101, et seq., Colorado Revised Statutes, as may be amended from time to time. The MSA, 

and any other documents requiring a signature hereunder, may be signed electronically by the parties in a 

manner acceptable to the district. The parties agree not to deny the legal effect or enforceability of the MSA 

solely because it is in electronic form or because an electronic record was used in its formation. The parties 

agree not to object to the admissibility of the MSA in the form of an electronic record, or a paper copy of an 

electronic document, or a paper copy of a document bearing an electronic signature, on the ground that it is 

an electronic record or electronic signature or that it is not in its original form or is not an original.

MSA Modification

The MSA may not be amended, altered, or otherwise changed except by a written agreement signed by 

authorized representatives of the parties.

Termination of MSA

Either party may terminate this MSA at any time by giving 30 days written notice to the other party. In that 

event, the provisions of this MSA shall continue to apply to all services rendered prior to termination. 

Agreement

We appreciate the opportunity to be of service to you and believe this MSA accurately summarizes the 

significant terms of our relationship. This MSA, along with the applicable SOW(s), constitute the entire 

agreement regarding services to be performed and supersedes all prior agreements (whether oral or 

written), understandings, negotiations, and discussions between you and CLA. If you have any questions, 

please let us know. If you agree with the terms of our relationship as described in this MSA, please sign, 

date, and return.

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP

Jason Carroll 

Managing Principal of Office 

303-265-7835 

jason.carroll@CLAconnect.com 

Response

This MSA correctly sets forth the understanding of Concord Metro District and is accepted by:
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CLA
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP

Jason Carroll, Managing Principal of Office

SIGNED  10/17/2023, 3:55:31 PM MDT

Client
Concord Metro District

SIGN:

Jeff Evans, President

DATE:

Page 8 of 8

81



CliftonLarsonAllen LLP

https://www.claconnect.com

Special Districts Preparation Statement of Work
Date: October 19, 2023

This agreement constitutes a Statement of Work (“SOW”) to the Master Service Agreement (“MSA”) made 

by and between CliftonLarsonAllen LLP (“CLA,” “we,” “us,” and “our”) and Concord Metro District (“you,” 

“your,” “board of directors” or “the district”) dated October 15, 2023 or any superseding MSA. The purpose 

of this SOW is to outline certain services you wish us to perform through December 31, 2024 in connection 

with that agreement.

Scope of professional services

Jason Carroll is responsible for the performance of the preparation engagement and other services 

identified in this agreement. They may be assisted by one or more of our authorized signers in the 

performance of the preparation engagement.

Ongoing normal accounting services:

• Outsourced accounting activities 

• For each fund of the district, CLA will generally prepare and maintain the following 

accounting records:

- Cash receipts journal

- Cash disbursements journal

- General ledger

- Accounts receivable journals and ledgers

- Deposits with banks and financial institutions

- Schedule of disbursements

- Bank account reconciliations

- Investment records

- Detailed development fee records
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• Process accounts payable including the preparation and issuance of checks for approval by 

the board of directors

• Prepare billings, record billings, enter cash receipts, and track revenues

• Reconcile certain accounts regularly and prepare journal entries 

• Prepare depreciation schedules 

• Prepare quarterly financial statements and supplementary information, but not perform a 

compilation with respect to those financial statements; additional information is provided 

below

• Prepare a schedule of cash position to monitor the district’s cash deposits, funding for 

disbursements, and investment programs in accordance with policies established by the 

district’s board of directors and in accordance with state law

• At the direction of the board of directors, assist with the coordination and execution of 

banking and investment transactions and documentation

• Prepare the annual budget and assist with the filing of the annual budget 

• Assist the district’s board of directors in monitoring actual expenditures against 

appropriation/budget

• If an audit is required, prepare the year-end financial statements (additional information is 

provided below) and related audit schedules for use by the district’s auditors

• If an audit is not required, prepare the Application for Exemption from Audit, perform a 

compilation engagement with respect to the Application for Exemption from Audit, and 

assist with the filing of the Application for Exemption from Audit – additional information 

is provided below

• Monitor compliance with bond indentures and trust agreements, including preparation of 

continuing disclosure reports to the secondary market as required

• Review claims for reimbursement from related parties prior to the board of directors’ 

review and approval

• Read supporting documentation related to the district’s acquisition of infrastructure or 

other capital assets completed by related parties for overall reasonableness and 

completeness

- Procedures in excess of providing overall reasonableness and completeness will be 

subject to a separate SOW
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- These procedures may not satisfy district policies, procedures, and agreements’ 

requirements

- Note: our procedures should not be relied upon as the final authorization for this 

transaction

• Attend board meetings as requested

• Be available during the year to consult with you on any accounting matters related to the 

district

• Review and approve monthly reconciliations and journal entries prepared by staff  

• Reconcile complex accounts monthly and prepare journal entries  

• Analyze financial statements and present to management and the board of directors

• Develop and track key business metrics as requested and review periodically with the 

board of directors

• Document accounting processes and procedures  

• Continue process and procedure improvement implementation  

• Report on cash flows  

• Assist with bank communications

• Perform other non-attest services

Compilation services

If an audit is not required, we will complete the Application for Exemption from Audit in the form 

prescribed by the Colorado Office of the State Auditor and perform a compilation engagement with respect 

to the Application for Exemption from Audit.

Preparation services - financial statements

We will prepare the quarterly financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 

activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate 

remaining fund information if applicable of the district, which comprise the balance sheet – governmental 

funds and the related statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balance – general fund. 

The financial statements will not include the related notes to the financial statements; the government-wide 

financial statements; the statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances – 

governmental funds; statement of cash flows for business type activities, if applicable; and required 

supplementary information.

Preparation services - annual
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If an audit is required, we will prepare the year-end financial statements of the government wide 

governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, 

each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information if applicable, and Management Discussion 

and Analysis, if applicable, which collectively comprise the basic financial statements of the district, and the 

related notes to the financial statements. The year-end financial statements, including the related notes to 

the financial statements, will be prepared for use by the district’s auditors.

Preparation services – prospective financial information (i.e., unexpired budget 

information)

You have requested that we prepare the financial forecast, which comprises the forecasted financial 

statements identified below.

 
A financial forecast presents, to the best of management’s knowledge and belief, the entity’s expected 

financial position, results of operations, and cash flows for the forecast period. It is based on management’s 

assumptions reflecting conditions it expects to exist and the course of action it expects to take during the 

forecast period. 

 
The financial forecast will omit substantially all of the disclosures required by the guidelines for 

presentation of a financial forecast established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants 

(AICPA presentation guidelines) other than those related to the significant assumptions. 

 
The supplementary information accompanying the financial forecast will be prepared and presented for 

purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial forecast. 

References to financial statements in the remainder of this SOW are to be taken as a reference to also 

include the prospective financial information, where applicable.

Engagement objectives and our responsibilities

The objectives of our engagement are to:

a) Prepare quarterly financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally 

accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP), except for the departures from U.S. GAAP 

identified above, based on information provided by you and information generated through our 

outsourced accounting services.

b) As requested, apply accounting and financial reporting expertise to assist you in the presentation 

of your quarterly financial statements without undertaking to obtain or provide any assurance 

that there are no material modifications that should be made to the financial statements in order 

for them to be in accordance with U.S. GAAP, except for the departures from U.S. GAAP 

identified above.

c) Prepare the annual budget in accordance with the requirements prescribed by Colorado Revised 

Statutes C.R.S. 29-1-105 based on information provided by you. 

d) Apply accounting and financial reporting expertise to assist you in the presentation of the annual 

budget without undertaking to obtain or provide any assurance that there are no material 
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modifications that should be made to the annual budget in order for the annual budget to be in 

accordance with requirements prescribed by Colorado Revised Statutes C.R.S. 29-1-105.  

e) If an audit is required, prepare the year-end financial statements in accordance with accounting 

principles generally accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP) based on information 

provided by you.

f) If applicable, we will complete the Application for Exemption from Audit in the form prescribed 

by the Colorado Office of the State Auditor and perform a compilation engagement on the 

application.

We will conduct our preparation and compilation engagements in accordance with Statements on 

Standards for Accounting and Review Services (SSARSs) promulgated by the Accounting and Review 

Services Committee of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) and comply with the 

AICPA's Code of Professional Conduct, including the ethical principles of integrity, objectivity, professional 

competence, and due care.

Engagement procedures and limitations

We are not required to, and will not, verify the accuracy or completeness of the information provided to us 

for the engagement or otherwise gather evidence for the purpose of expressing an opinion or a conclusion. 

Accordingly, we will not express an opinion, a conclusion, nor provide any assurance on the financial 

statements, the annual budget, the Application for Exemption from Audit (if an audit is not required), the 

year-end financial statements (if an audit is required), and the supplementary information.

 
Our engagement cannot be relied upon to identify or disclose any misstatements in the quarterly financial 

statements, the annual budget, the Application for Exemption from Audit, and the year-end financial 

statements, including misstatements caused by fraud or error, or to identify or disclose any wrongdoing 

within the district or noncompliance with laws and regulations. However, if any of the foregoing are 

identified as a result of our engagement, we will promptly report this information to the board of directors 

of the district. We have no responsibility to identify and communicate deficiencies in your internal control 

as part of this engagement, but will promptly report them to the board of directors of the district if they are 

identified. You agree that we shall not be responsible for any misstatements in the district’s financial 

statements, the annual budget, the Application for Exemption from Audit, and the year-end financial 

statements that we may not identify as a result of misrepresentations made to us by you.

Our report

The compilation report on the Application for Exemption from Audit will state that management is 

responsible for the accompanying application included in the prescribed form, that we performed a 

compilation of the application, that we did not audit or review the application, and that, accordingly, we do 

not express an opinion a conclusion, nor provide any form of assurance on it. The report will also state that 

the Application for Exemption from Audit is presented in accordance with the requirements of the Colorado 

Office of the State Auditor and is not intended to be a presentation in accordance with accounting principles 

generally accepted in the United States of America. The report will include a statement that the report is 

intended solely for the information and use of the Colorado Office of the State Auditor and is not intended 

to be and should not be used by anyone other than this specified party and may not be suitable for another 
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purpose.

 
There may be circumstances in which the report may differ from its expected form and content. If, for any 

reason, we are unable to complete the compilation on the Application for Exemption from Audit (if an audit 

is not required), we will not issue report on the Application for Exemption from Audit as a result of this 

engagement.

No assurance statements

The quarterly financial statements prepared for the district will not be accompanied by a report. However, 

management agrees that each page of the financial statements will include a statement clearly indicating 

that no assurance is provided on them.

 
As part of our preparation of financial statements each page of the financial statements and supplementary 

information will include the following statement: “No assurance is provided on these financial statements. 

Substantially all required disclosures, the government-wide financial statements, and the statement of 

revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances – governmental funds have been omitted if 

applicable, For business type activities, the Statement of Cash Flows has been omitted”.

 
If an audit is required, the year-end financial statements prepared for use by the district’s auditors will not 

be accompanied by a report. However, management agrees that each page of the year-end financial 

statements will include a statement clearly indicating that no assurance is provided on them.

Management responsibilities

The financial statement engagement to be performed is conducted on the basis that management 

acknowledges and understands that our role is to prepare financial statements in accordance with U.S. 

GAAP and assist management in the presentation of the financial statements in accordance with U.S. 

GAAP, except for the departures from U.S. GAAP identified above. 

 
The annual budget engagement to be performed is conducted on the basis that management acknowledges 

and understands that our role is to prepare the annual budget in accordance with the requirements 

prescribed by Colorado Revised Statutes C.R.S. 29.1.105 and assist management in the presentation of the 

annual budget in accordance with the requirements prescribed by Colorado Revised Statutes C.R.S. 

29.1.105.

 
The Application for Exemption from Audit engagement to be performed is conducted on the basis that 

management acknowledges and understands that our role is to prepare the Application for Exemption from 

Audit in accordance with the requirements prescribed by the Colorado Office of the State Auditor and assist 

management in the presentation of the Application for Exemption from Audit in accordance with the 

requirements prescribed by the Colorado Office of the State Auditor. 

 
We are required by professional standards to identify management’s responsibilities in this agreement. 

Professional standards define management as the persons with executive responsibility for the conduct of 

the district’s operations and may include some or all of those charged with governance. Those standards 

require that you acknowledge and understand that management has the following overall responsibilities 

that are fundamental to our undertaking the engagement in accordance with SSARSs:
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a) The selection of the financial reporting framework to be applied in the preparation of the 

financial statements, the annual budget, and the Application for Exemption from Audit.

b) The preparation and fair preparation of the financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP, 

except as identified as above, the preparation and fair presentation of the annual budget in 

accordance with the requirements prescribed by Colorado Revised Statutes C.R.S. 29.1.105, and 

the preparation and fair presentation of the Application for Exemption from Audit (if applicable) 

in accordance with the requirements prescribed by the Colorado Office of the State Auditor. 

c) The presentation of the supplementary information.

d) The design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation 

and fair presentation of financial statements, the annual budget, and the Application for 

Exemption from Audit (if applicable) that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 

fraud or error.

e) The prevention and detection of fraud.

f) To ensure that the entity complies with the laws and regulations applicable to its activities.

g) The accuracy and completeness of the records, documents, explanations, and other information, 

including significant judgments, you provide to us for the engagement to prepare financial 

statements.

h) To provide us with the following:

i) Access to all information relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 

statements, and the annual budget, the Application for Exemption from Audit (if 

applicable) such as records, documentation, and other matters.

ii) Additional information that may be requested for the purpose of the engagement.

iii) Unrestricted access to persons within the entity with whom we determine it necessary to 

communicate.

We understand that you are engaging us to make recommendations and perform services to help you meet 

your responsibilities relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements, the 

annual budget, and the Application for Exemption from Audit (if applicable).

 
For all accounting services we may provide to you, including the preparation of your financial statements, 

the annual budget, and the Application for Exemption from Audit (if applicable), management agrees to 

assume all management responsibilities; oversee the services by designating an individual (i.e., the board 

treasurer); evaluate the adequacy and results of the services; and accept responsibility for the results of the 

services.

Fees and terms
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Billing rates guaranteed through December 31, 2024: 

Services performed by Rate per hour

Principal $300-$600

Consulting CFO $290-$400

Consulting Controller $240-$380

Assistant Controller $210-$290

Senior $150-$220

Staff $130-$190

Administrative Support $120-$170

 

Subsequent to the billing rate guarantee date, the rates may be adjusted as agreed between you and CLA 

through a new SOW.

Our professional fees will be billed based on the degree of responsibility and contribution of the 

professionals working on the engagement. We will also bill for expenses (including internal and 

administrative charges) plus a technology and client support fee of five percent (5%) of all professional fees 

billed. 

Use of financial statements, the annual budget, the Application for Exemption from Audit

The financial statements, the annual budget, and the Application for Exemption from Audit (if applicable) 

are for management’s use. If you intend to reproduce and publish the financial statements, the annual 

budget, and the Application for Exemption from Audit (if applicable) and our report thereon, they must be 

reproduced in their entirety. Inclusion of the financial statements, the annual budget, and the Application 

for Exemption from Audit (if applicable) in a document, such as an annual report or an offering document, 

should be done only with our prior approval of the document. You are responsible to provide us the 

opportunity to review such documents before issuance.

 
With regard to the electronic dissemination of financial statements, the annual budget, and the Application 

for Exemption from Audit (if applicable) that have been subjected to a compilation engagement, including 

financial statements, the annual budget, and the Application for Exemption from Audit (if applicable) 

published electronically on your website, you understand that electronic sites are a means to distribute 

information and, therefore, we are not required to read the information contained in those sites or to 

consider the consistency of other information in the electronic site with the original document.

 
We may issue preliminary draft financial statements to you for your review. Any preliminary draft financial 
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statements should not be relied on or distributed.

Municipal advisors

For the avoidance of doubt, the district is not engaging CLA as a municipal advisor, and CLA is not a 

municipal advisor as defined in Section 975 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer 

Protection Act or under Section 158 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Act”). CLA is not 

recommending an action to you, is not acting as an advisor to you, and does not owe a fiduciary duty to you 

pursuant to Section 158 of the Act with respect to the information and material contained in the 

deliverables issued under this engagement. You should discuss any information and material contained in 

the deliverables with any and all internal and external advisors that you deem appropriate before acting on 

this information or material.

Agreement

We appreciate the opportunity to provide the services described in this SOW related to the MSA. All terms 

and provisions of the MSA shall apply to these services. If you agree with the terms of this SOW, please sign 

below and return a signed copy to us to indicate your acknowledgment and understanding of, and 

agreement with, this SOW.

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP

Jason Carroll 

Managing Principal of Office 

303-265-7835 

jason.carroll@CLAconnect.com 

Response

This SOW correctly sets forth the understanding of Concord Metro District and is accepted by:
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CLA
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP

Jason Carroll, Managing Principal of Office

SIGNED  10/19/2023, 8:24:23 AM MDT

Client
Concord Metro District

SIGN:

Jeff Evans, President

DATE:
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CliftonLarsonAllen LLP

https://www.claconnect.com

Special Districts Payroll Services Statement of 
Work

Date: October 19, 2023

This agreement constitutes a Statement of Work (“SOW”) to the Master Service Agreement (“MSA”) made 

by and between CliftonLarsonAllen LLP (“CLA,” “we,” “us,” and “our”) and Concord Metro District (“you,” 

“your,” “board of directors” or “the district”) dated October 15, 2023 or any superseding MSA. The purpose 

of this SOW is to outline certain services you wish us to perform through December 31, 2024 in connection 

with that agreement.

Scope of payroll services

We will provide the following payroll preparation services each pay period based on information you 

provide:

• Perform payroll calculations within ADP

• Facilitate ADP’s preparation of payroll checks and/or pay stubs

• Use ADP to initiate the electronic transfer of funds for employee net pay and payroll tax deposit

We will assist with the preparation of the following government forms, when applicable, for each calendar 

quarter-end and year-end with the understanding that ADP directly handles filing the payroll tax returns 

and payments:

• Form 941 – Employers Quarterly Tax Return

• State Employers Quarterly Withholding Return

• State Employers Quarterly Unemployment Return (SUTA)

• Form 940 – Employers Annual Federal Unemployment Tax Return

• All copies of required forms W-2 and W-3 – Transmittal of Tax and Wage Statements (annual)

• All necessary state forms (annual)
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Our responsibility to you and limitations of the payroll services

We will prepare your federal and state (when applicable) payroll forms and tax returns.

 
We will not audit or otherwise verify the accuracy or completeness of the information we receive from you 

for the preparation of the payroll and related returns, and our engagement cannot be relied upon to 

uncover errors or irregularities in the underlying information. However, we will inform the appropriate 

level of management of any material errors and of any evidence or information that comes to our attention 

during the performance of our payroll preparation services that fraud may have occurred. In addition, we 

will inform you of any evidence or information that comes to our attention during the performance of our 

payroll preparation services regarding illegal acts that may have occurred, unless they are clearly 

inconsequential. We have no responsibility to identify and communicate deficiencies in your internal 

control as part of this engagement. You agree that we shall not be responsible for any misstatements in the 

entity’s payroll that we may not identify as a result of misrepresentations made to us by you. 

 
If applicable, our payroll preparation services will include electronically transmitting management-

approved information to taxing authorities and your financial institution to facilitate the electronic transfer 

of funds. 

 
If applicable, our payroll preparation services will include transmitting management-approved federal 

Form W-2, federal Form 1099, and payroll data forms to federal and state taxing authorities on your behalf. 

 
CLA's relationship with you shall be solely that of an independent contractor and nothing in the MSA or a 

SOW shall be construed to create or imply any relationship of employment, agency, partnership, or any 

relationship other than an independent contractor.

Your responsibilities

It is your responsibility to provide us with all of the information needed to prepare complete and accurate 

payrolls and to facilitate ADP’s preparation of payroll tax returns. We will have no obligations with regards 

to a particular payroll or withholding taxes and filing returns in a particular state or local tax jurisdiction 

until you have provided such information to us.

 
Additionally, it is your responsibility to provide us with all of the information needed to facilitate ADP’s 

preparation of payroll tax returns. We will have no obligations with regards to particular withholding taxes 

and filing returns in a particular state or local tax jurisdiction until you have provided such information to 

us.

Specifically, your responsibilities include:

• Accuracy of information used in the preparation of the payrolls and payroll tax returns.

• Review and approval of paychecks or paystubs prior to issuance, and payroll registers for each 

pay period prior to submission of payroll information to ADP.

• Evaluation of information used in the preparation and filing of all government forms for 

accuracy.
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• Before submission of payroll information to ADP, review and approval of each electronic funds 

transfer to be initiated on your behalf for employee net pay amounts, payroll tax, withholding 

liabilities, and related benefit amounts. 

• One-time authorization to your financial institution for it to make transfers and direct deposits 

in accordance with future instructions from ADP.

• One-time authorization for ADP to submit tax filings and complete electronic fund transfers on 

your behalf.

• Sign or approve ADP issuance of all physical and/or electronic payroll checks.

If applicable, we will advise you with regard to tax positions taken in the preparation of the payroll forms 

and tax returns, but the responsibility for the payroll forms and tax returns remains with you.

 
Even if you have authorized CLA to file your employment tax returns and make your business and/or 

employment tax payments for you, please be aware that you are responsible for the timely filing of 

employment tax returns and the timely payment of business and/or employment taxes. Therefore, the 

Internal Revenue Service recommends that you enroll in the U.S. Department of the Treasure Electronic 

Federal Tax Payment System (EFTPS) to monitor your account and ensure that timely tax payments are 

being made for you. You may enroll in the EFTPS online at www.eftps.gov, or call 800-555-4477 for an 

enrollment form. Individual states have similar programs that allow you to monitor your account. A list of 

links by state is provided online at http://www.americanpayroll.org/weblink/statelocal-wider/.

Fees and terms

The billing rates (guaranteed through one year from 1st payroll live date) for these 

services are as follows:

Services performed by Rate per hour

Payroll Analyst I $90-$95

Payroll Analyst II $100-$110

Senior Payroll Analyst $125-$130

 

Subsequent to the billing rate guarantee date, the rates may be adjusted as agreed between you and CLA 

through a new SOW. 

 
Our professional fees will be billed based on the degree of responsibility and contribution of the 

professionals working on the engagement. We will also bill for expenses (including internal and 

administrative charges) plus a technology and client support fee of five percent (5%) of all professional fees 
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billed. 

This agreement will automatically renew for one year from the rate guarantee expiration date unless it is 

cancelled in writing at least 30 days prior to the expiration date or is changed by the mutual signing of a 

new SOW. The terms of the applicable MSA shall continue to govern this SOW if the SOW is automatically 

renewed.

We do not anticipate encountering the need to perform additional services beyond those described in this 

letter. Below are examples of services considered to be outside the scope of our engagement. We will bill 

you for additional services you would like us to provide at an hourly fee at periodic dates after the 

additional service has been performed.

• Reprocessing for corrected information provided to us subsequent to original payroll 

• Preparation of non-standard reports

• Calculation of fringe benefit additions

• Processing retirement plan contribution payments

• Preparation of retirement plan and other census information

• Responding to workers compensation insurance audits

• Responding to employment verification requests

• Preparation of additional state tax registrations

• Preparation of amended payroll tax returns

• Responding to tax notices

Tax examinations

All government forms and returns are subject to potential examination by the IRS and state taxing 

authorities. In the event of an examination, we will be available, at your request, to assist or represent you 

subject to a separate SOW. Services in connection with tax examinations are not included in our fee for 

preparation of your payroll returns. Our fee for such services will be billed to you separately, along with any 

direct costs pursuant to a separate SOW.

Record retention

You are responsible for retaining all documents, records, payroll journals, canceled checks, receipts, or 

other evidence in support of information and amounts reported in your payroll records and on your 

quarterly and calendar year-end payroll forms and tax returns. These items may be necessary in the event 

the taxing authority examines or challenges your returns. These records should be kept for at least seven 

years. Your copy of the payroll forms and tax returns should be retained indefinitely.
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In preparing the payrolls, payroll forms, and tax returns, we rely on your representation that you 

understand and have complied with these documentation requirements. You are responsible for the proper 

recording of transactions in the books of accounts, for the safeguarding of assets, and for the substantial 

accuracy of your financial records.

 
All of the records that you provide to us to prepare your payrolls and related forms and tax returns will be 

returned to you after our use. Our working papers, including any copies of your records that we chose to 

make, are our property and will be retained by us in accordance with our established records retention 

policy. This policy states, in general, that we will retain our working papers for a period of seven years. After 

this period expires, our working papers and files will be destroyed. Furthermore, physical deterioration or 

catastrophic events may shorten the time our records are available. The working papers and files of our firm 

are not a substitute for the records of you.

Tax consulting services

This SOW also covers tax consulting services that may arise for which the entity seeks our consultation and 

advice, both written and oral, that are not the subject of a separate SOW. These additional services are not 

included in our fees for the preparation of the payroll and related federal and state forms and tax returns. 

 
We will base our tax analysis and conclusions on the facts you provide to us, and will not independently 

verify those facts. We will review the applicable tax authority rules, all of which are subject to change. At 

your request, we will provide a memorandum of our conclusions. Written advice provided by us is for the 

entity’s information and use only and is not to be provided to any third party without our express written 

consent. 

 
Unless we are separately engaged to do so, we will not continuously monitor and update our advice for 

subsequent changes or modifications to the tax regulations, or to the related judicial and administrative 

interpretations.

Legal compliance

The entity agrees to assume sole responsibility for full compliance with all applicable federal and state laws, 

rules or regulations, and reporting obligations that apply to the entity or the entity’s business, including the 

accuracy and lawfulness of any reports the entity submits to any government regulator, authority, or 

agency. The entity also agrees to be solely responsible for providing legally sufficient substantiation, 

evidence, or support for any reports or information supplied by the entity to any governmental or 

regulatory body, or for any insurance reimbursement in the event that the entity is requested to do so by 

any lawful authority. CLA, its successors, affiliates, officers, and employees do not assume or undertake any 

duty to perform or to be responsible in any way for any such duties, requirements, or obligations.

Authority to Execute

The entity executing this SOW represents that it is duly authorized to do so and on behalf of itself and the 

entities listed on the Multiple Entities List.

Agreement

We appreciate the opportunity to provide the services described in this SOW related to the MSA. All terms 

and provisions of the MSA shall apply to these services. If you agree with the terms of this SOW, please sign 
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below and return a signed copy to us to indicate your acknowledgment and understanding of, and 

agreement with, this SOW.

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP

Jason Carroll 

Managing Principal of Office 

303-265-7835 

jason.carroll@CLAconnect.com 

Response

This SOW correctly sets forth the understanding of Concord Metro District and is accepted by:
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CLA
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP

Jason Carroll, Managing Principal of Office

SIGNED  10/19/2023, 10:28:58 AM MDT

Client
Concord Metro District

SIGN:

Jeff Evans, President

DATE:
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Multiple Entities

____________________ 

Page 8 of 8

99


	1A. Agenda 11-01-23 (draft)
	Term Expires

	1E. Minutes 8-2-23
	1F.  2024 Administrative Matters Resolution(8274714.1)
	2A. CMD  - CASH SHEET - 10.25.23
	2B. Claims Paid 10.27.23
	2C. Resolution to Amend 2023 Budget(8274682.1)
	2D1. Concord MD - 2024 draft budget 10-27-2023
	2D2. Resolution to Adopt 2024 Budget with Mill Levy(8274692.1)
	3A.  2024 Workers Comp Resolution and Form Exclusion(8274711.1)
	6A1. Concord Business Center Design Guidelines
	6A2. Concord Business Center - Development Application
	Blank Page

	6A3. Concord Business Center-Application Checklist
	6C1. Special Districts Master Services Agreement (3)
	6C2. Special Districts Preparation Statement of Work (2)
	6C3. Special Districts Payroll Services Statement of Work (1)

	CompanyApplicant: 
	AddressApplicant: 
	PhoneApplicant: 
	EmailApplicant: 
	ApplicantSignature: 
	DateApplicant: 
	Lead: 
	CompanyLead: 
	AddressLead: 
	PhoneLead: 
	EmailLead: 
	LeadSignature: 
	DateLead: 
	JobNo: 
	Fee: 
	CheckNo: 
	Project Description: 
	ProjectName: 
	Architect/Engineer/LandscapeArchitect: 
	Proposed Use: 
	ProjectAddress: 
	Project Location: 
	PropertyArea: 
	Applicant: 
	Date: 
	Check Box10: 
	0: Off
	1: Off
	2: Off
	3: Off
	4: Off

	Check Box2: 
	0: 
	0: Off
	1: Off
	2: Off
	3: Off
	4: Off
	5: Off
	7: Off
	10: Off
	11: Off
	13: Off
	14: Off
	15: Off
	16: Off

	1: 
	0: Off
	1: Off
	2: Off
	3: Off
	4: Off
	5: Off
	7: Off
	10: Off
	11: Off
	13: Off
	14: Off
	15: Off
	16: Off

	2: 
	0: Off
	1: Off
	2: Off
	3: Off
	4: Off
	5: Off
	7: Off
	10: Off
	11: Off
	13: Off
	14: Off
	15: Off
	16: Off


	Check Box6: 
	0: 
	0: Off
	1: Off
	2: Off
	3: Off
	4: Off
	5: Off
	6: Off
	7: Off
	8: Off
	9: Off
	10: Off
	11: Off

	1: 
	0: Off
	1: Off
	2: Off
	3: Off
	4: Off
	5: Off
	6: Off
	7: Off
	8: Off
	9: Off
	10: Off
	11: Off

	2: 
	0: Off
	1: Off
	2: Off
	3: Off
	4: Off
	5: Off
	6: Off
	7: Off
	8: Off
	9: Off
	10: Off
	11: Off


	Check Box3: 
	0: 
	0: Off
	1: Off
	2: Off
	3: Off
	4: Off
	5: Off
	6: Off
	7: Off
	8: Off
	9: Off
	10: Off
	11: Off
	13: Off
	14: Off
	15: Off
	17: Off
	18: Off
	19: Off
	20: Off
	22: Off
	24: Off

	1: 
	0: Off
	1: Off
	2: Off
	3: Off
	4: Off
	5: Off
	6: Off
	7: Off
	8: Off
	9: Off
	10: Off
	11: Off
	13: Off
	14: Off
	15: Off
	17: Off
	18: Off
	19: Off
	20: Off
	22: Off
	24: Off

	2: 
	0: Off
	1: Off
	2: Off
	3: Off
	4: Off
	5: Off
	6: Off
	7: Off
	8: Off
	9: Off
	10: Off
	11: Off
	13: Off
	14: Off
	15: Off
	17: Off
	18: Off
	19: Off
	20: Off
	22: Off
	24: Off


	Check Box7: 
	0: Off
	1: Off
	2: Off

	Check Box4: 
	0: 
	0: Off
	2: Off
	4: Off
	5: Off
	7: Off
	8: Off
	10: Off
	11: Off
	13: Off
	15: Off
	16: Off
	18: Off
	21: Off

	1: 
	0: Off
	2: Off
	4: Off
	5: Off
	7: Off
	8: Off
	10: Off
	11: Off
	13: Off
	15: Off
	16: Off
	18: Off
	21: Off

	2: 
	0: Off
	2: Off
	4: Off
	5: Off
	7: Off
	8: Off
	10: Off
	11: Off
	13: Off
	15: Off
	16: Off
	18: Off
	21: Off




